
FULL COUNCIL MEETING

Please note that this Meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the 
Authority’s Internet Site. 
 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes 
within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the 
Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings as outlined above.  

Dear Sir/Madam

You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to be held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER on Wednesday, 30th November, 
2016 at 5.30 pm being a Meeting for the following purposes.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility 
to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in 
respect of matters contained in this agenda in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 relating to Council 
Tax, the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct



Note:

(a)  Members are reminded that they must identify the 
item number and subject matter that their interest 
relates to and signify the nature of the personal 
interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting as a 
consequence of the disclosure of a prejudicial 
interest they must notify the Chair when they 
leave

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 
To approve as accurate, the Minutes of the following 
Meetings:

3.a  Scrutiny : Learning and LAESCYP : 31/10/2016 1 - 4

3.b  Scrutiny : Social Services : 1/11/2016 5 - 8

3.c  Cabinet : 2/11/2016 9 - 12

3.d  Full Council : 2/11/2016 13 - 18

3.e  Scrutiny : Neighbourhood Services and Public 
Protection : 7/11/2016

19 - 22

3.f  Scrutiny : Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services : 8/11/2016

23 - 26

3.g  Licensing : 9/11/2016 27 - 28

3.h  Planning , Regulatory and Licensing : 9/11/2016 29 - 32

3.i  Scrutiny : Regeneration, Planning and Countryside : 
15/11/2016

33 - 36

3.j  Cabinet : 16/11/2016 37 - 38

Committee Report(s)

4. Cabinet Appointment 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 39 - 40

5. Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 – 
2020/21 – Progress Update 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 41 - 58



6. Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) 
Co-opted Membership On The Authority's Scrutiny 
Committees 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 59 - 62

7. MTCBC Membership Of The Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board Joint Overview And Scrutiny Committee 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 63 - 78

8. Council Tax Base for 2017/18 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 79 - 82

9. Changes to Local Authority Search Fees 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Neighbourhood 
Services

83 - 90

10. Biffa Profit Sharing Scheme 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

91 - 96

Information Report(s)

11. Ffos Y Fran Intermediate Grant Scheme 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

97 - 100

Other Items

12. To deal with any other urgent business or 
correspondence 

13. To receive communications from Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor 

By order of the Mayor

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND 
LAESCYP MEETING

MONDAY, 31ST OCTOBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor L Mytton (In the Chair)

Councillors S Williams, M Davies, G Lewis and C Tovey

Cooptees:
Claire Brown, Rosemary Lazell, Alan Rees and Anne Roberts

Officers:
Dorothy Haines (Chief Officer (Learning) - Chief Education 
Officer)

Howard Jones (Scrutiny Officer) and Karen Vokes (Democratic 
Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

436  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence received from Councillors Kate 
Moran and Sian Slater. 

437  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

Councillor Simon Williams declared an interest in relation to 
item 4  (SLA’s for Local Authority Services to Schools) as 
his wife is on the HR Steering Group.

Rosemary Lazell, Co-optee, declared an interest in relation 
to item 4 (SLA’s for Local Authority Services to Schools) as 
she is the Chair of Governors in one of the Schools that 
opted out of the HR SLA. 

438  Self-Evaluation of 
Partnership Working

Dorothy Haines took the Committee through the report in 
relation to the Self Evaluation of Partnership Working and 
highlighted the following key points to members: 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



 Profile of judgements.

 Partnership working with a range of partners.

 Action Plan to progress partnership working.

 Partnership working and collaboration.  

 Focusing on further improvements to key 
partnerships that will have the greatest impact on 
improving outcomes.

 Principles of partnership working. 

Dorothy Haines provided advice and background 
information in relation to the following questions from the 
Committee:

 Examples of how you plan to improve partnership 
working, e.g. parents, carers, schools and 
governors. 

 As you know the Council is facing continuous 
pressure on funding.   Do you think you can 
continue to improve bearing in mind the budget 
pressures, both on the department and your 
partners?

 Clarification and update on the Public Service 
Board.  

 One of the priorities for improvement is to ensure 
that the views of children, young people and their 
families are used to inform service delivery in all 
areas.    How do you intend to undertake this 
priority for improvement? 

 Are there any partnerships that need more 
development?

Councillor Lisa Mytton left the meeting at 4.30 pm and 
Councillor Simon Williams took the Chair.  

RESOLVED that:

The contents of this report be noted by the Committee. 

439  Service Level 
Agreements (SLAs) for 
Local Authorities 
Services to Schools

Dorothy Haines took the Committee through the report on 
Service Level Agreements (SLA’s) for Local Authority 
Services to Schools and updated members on where we 
are with the SLA’s with regard to the number of changes 
over the last year.   

Dorothy Haines provided advice and background 
information in relation to the following questions from the 
Committee:

Page 2



 Clarification if there are any current issues ongoing 
in respect of HR.

 Clarification on the Schools that have opted out of 
their SLA’s, e.g the quality of service from private 
companies, future responsibility of the Authority and 
the role of Governors.  

 The requirements of the Peripatetic Music SLA and 
the involvement of Merthyr College.   

 In relation to the Breakfast Club SLA, if the 
recommendation is rejected following the 
consultation, are there any other areas being 
considered for financial services or is it the intention 
to await the result of the Breakfast consultation.      

 Clarification on what the restrictions could be in 
relation to Schools’ Breakfast Clubs, the impact to 
parents and how potential savings could be 
achieved.   

Alan Rees (Co-optee) left the meeting at 5.00 pm.

 Clarification on the Procurement Board.     
 
RESOLVED that:

The Committee accepts the contents of the report.  

440  Performance Report - 
Corporate Plan

Dorothy Haines took the Committee through the report in 
relation to the Corporate Plan Priority Area 1 (Raising 
Standards of Attainment) and updated members on the up 
to date position on existing/new initiatives.  

Dorothy Haines provided advice and background 
information in relation to the following questions from the 
Committee:

 As listed in the Projects at Appendix 2, the Basic 
Skills Strategy is due to finish on the 31st July 2017  
-  do you think this will continue after that date?  

 It has been identified that the Governor Support 
Services to Schools have been reviewed and 
improved in order to enable governing bodies to 
provide strong governance.   

What has been done and what are your aspirations 
for stronger governance?

 Recruitment of Governors.

 The performance indicators in respect of pupil 
attendance in Primary Schools do not reflect where 
we rank nationally.   Do we have these figures?

Page 3



RESOLVED that:

The judgements and evaluations, as detailed in the report, 
are noted.  

441  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair advised that there was no update on this item. 

442  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
issues that had been considered at the meeting.

443  Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2016-17

The Chair to liaise with the Scrutiny Officer on the Forward 
Work Programme, as follows:

 The attendance of a School at a future Scrutiny 
Committee.

 The Scrutiny Committee Members to agree a visit 
to a School in the County Borough in February 
2017.

444  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent. 

Page 4



MINUTES OF MEETING

SOCIAL SERVICES MEETING
TUESDAY, 1ST NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor W R Smith (In the Chair)

Councillors A Jones and T Lewis

Councillor L A Matthews – Cabinet

Cooptees:
Brian Lewis

Officers:
Mark Anderton (Head of Adult Services), Annabel Lloyd (Head 
of Children's Services), Alexandra Beckham (Child Protection), 
John Sellwood (Leisure, Culture and Sports Development 
Manager) and Sian Lyons (Performance and Risk Support 
Officer)

Outside Bodies:
Nicola Kingham (Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Business 
Manager)

Howard Jones (Scrutiny Officer) and Mair Morgan (Democratic 
Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

445  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor R 
Braithwaite and Councillor B E Mansbridge.

446  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

447  Child Sexual 
Exploitation  (CSE) 
Safeguarding Action 

The Chair welcomed Councillor L Matthews, Mark 
Anderton, Annabel Lloyd, Alexandra Beckham and Nicola 
Kingham to the Meeting.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3b



Plan
Councillor L Matthews referred the Committee to the ‘Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Safeguarding Action Plan report. 

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by Councillor Matthews and 
the Officers:

 What consultation has taken place – What 
Organisations have been involved

 The development of an action plan has been 
ongoing since March 2015.  Has the Authority come 
up with an Authority wide action plan and when will 
it be ready

 What is the timescale for when things will be done 
 Who sits on the Corporate Safeguarding Reference 

Group and who do they report to
 Are there any gaps to be filled on the group and is 

the representation appropriate
 One of the outcomes is that ‘there is an effective 

transition process in place to support those young 
people who become eighteen and who may still be 
vulnerable’ – Do we have an efficient transition 
policy – Is there only one plan or does it change

 Is there a programme laid down for reporting
 Are the voluntary sector involved in this process

Resolved that:

The Scrutiny comments on the recommendations that are 
outstanding and ongoing actions are remitted to Corporate 
Safeguarding Reference Group in order for effective 
monitoring and reporting to Scrutiny on a regular basis

448  Cwm Taf Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) Annual Report 
2015/16

Councillor L Matthews referred the Committee to the ‘Cwm 
Taf Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Annual Report 
2015/16’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by Councillor Matthews and 
the Officers:

 During the first year of MASH, 57% of RCT referrals 
progressed to formal investigation and 85% of 
Merthyr Tydfil referrals proceeded to formal 
investigation – Do you have any early indications as 
to why there is such a variation

 What is the number of cases that equates to 85% - 
Helpful to have figures as well as percentages

 Is there inspection by CSSIW
 What is the relationship with the Public Service 

Board
 Is the review near completion
 What is the progress on the way forward
 Who will you report to on progress on these next 

steps, and who will you report back to

Page 6



Resolved that:

The content of the Cwm Taf MASH Annual Report 2015/16 
be noted 

449  Cwm Taf Safeguarding 
Adults Board Annual 
Report 2015/16

Nicola Kingham referred the Committee to the ‘Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015 – 2016’.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to by Councillor L Matthews and the 
Officers:

 What are the differences between the Plan and the 
Report

 Paragraph 6 (ii) – Have the reasons for these 
figures been analysed and why was the figure so 
high in 2013/14

 Paragraph vii – Activity Title Table – Actions to 
address attendance issues are considered at the 
Adults Learning and Development Group – What 
are the issues

 In November 2015 both Safeguarding Boards 
negotiated a funding formula for 2016/17 – What is 
the situation for future years bearing in mind the 
budget restraints

450  Cwm Taf Safeguarding 
Children Board Annual 
report 2015/16

Nicola Kingham referred the Committee to the Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report 2015 – 
2016’.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to by Councillor L Matthews and the 
Officers:

 Is one Board more effective than the other in terms 
of Partner participation and outcome 

 Are there areas of good practice from one board 
that can be shared with the other

 Are there lessons to be learned

451  Performance Report - 
Corporate Plan Priority 
Area 4 Active 
Lifestyles

Declaration of Interest

Councillor W R Smith Declared his Interest in this item as 
he is the Council’s Representative on the Board for the 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust Limited.

The Chair welcomed John Sellwood and Sian Lyons to the 
Meeting.

Sian Lyons led the Committee through the ‘Performance 
report – Corporate Plan Priority Area 4 – Active Lifestyles’ 
report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by Councillor L Matthews 
and the Officers:

 Visits have been reducing year on year – What are 
the reasons for this

Page 7



 Are we doing anything to reverse this trend
 There has been a big reduction over the last year – 

Does it tie in with an increase in fees at Leisure 
Centres or is there another reason

 Do we get any Lottery money for sport
 How does Community Chest support Adult and 

Children’s teams
 The Committee should receive a report on active 

lifestyles
 Can the Committee have a list of what the 

Community Chest has been spent on this year
 Are there comments received back from the people 

who use the Trust facilities
 The effect of Free Swim Funding on the Trust

Resolved that:

The judgements and evaluations be noted   

452  Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014

Councillor L Matthews updated the Committee in relation to 
the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014.

453  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

The Chair referred the Committee to the notes of the 
Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny 
Committee Task and Finish Group Meeting that had been 
held 28 September 2016.

The Committee were also advised that a report would be 
made to the Joint Scrutiny Committee to be held in January 
2017.

The Chair then recommended that a Task and Finish Group 
be convened prior to the January Meeting to consider 
communication between Social Services and residents.

Resolved that:

A Task and Finish Group be convened to comprise 
Councillor W R Smith, Councillor A Jones, Councillor T C 
Lewis and Mr B Lewis.

454  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that 
had been discussed at the Meeting.

455  Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2016-17

The Committee considered the Work Programme report 
and agreed that the Chair meet with the Officers to agree 
the Committee Work Programme.

456  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there were no items deemed urgent.

Page 8



MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 2ND NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor B Toomey (In the Chair)

Councillors P Williams, C J Barry, D Jones, H R Jones and 
L A Matthews

Officers
Gareth Chapman (Chief Executive), Carys Kennedy (Head of 
Legal and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), Ellis 
Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), Steve Jones (Head of 
Finance), Mark Thomas (Head of Corporate Services), Lisa 
Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)), Dorothy Haines 
(Chief Officer (Learning) - Chief Education Officer), Cheryllee 
Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)), Fran Donnelly 
(H R Manager), Chris Long (Economic Development & Strategic 
Tourism Manager), Chris Hole (Manager for Early Years) and 
Beth Melhuish (Corporate Communications)

Mair Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

457  Apologies for absence No apologies for absence were received as all Members 
were present.

458  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made.

459  Annual Risk 
Management Progress 
Report and Updated 
Corporate Risk 
Register for 2016-17

Resolved that:

(a) The Corporate Risk Register for 2016-17 be 
approved and the progress made in developing 
Risk Management be noted

(b) The progress made in considering the Risk 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3c



Management requirements of the Well Being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 be noted

(c) It is noted that Audit Committee will invite Lead 
Officers and Lead Directors to attend the 
Committee periodically on a rolling programme 
basis to report on progress in managing their 
Corporate Risks

(d) The proposals to continue to present regular 
highlight reports on the Corporate Risk Register to 
Corporate Management Team and Cabinet be 
noted

460  School Balances 2015-
2017

The Committee were advised that Paragraph 10 - 
Recommendations should be deleted from the report.

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

(a) The contents of the report be noted
(b) The updated Schools Financial Monitoring, Scrutiny 

and Intervention Policy be approved 

461  Winter Pressures 
2016-17

The Committee were advised that the recommendation at 
Paragraph 2.1 should be amended.

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

The content of the Winter Pressures Plan be noted and 
endorsed.

462  Social Care Support to 
GP Practices

This item was withdrawn.

463  Cwm Taf Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
Annual Report 2015-16

Resolved that:

(a) The content of the Cwm Taf MASH Annual Report 
2015/16 be noted

(b) The recommendations / priorities identified for 2016 
/ 17 be supported

464  Cyfarthfa Castle: 
Heritage Lottery Fund 
Stage One Approval

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

Resolved that:

The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 14 and 15 
under Part 4 of Schedule 12A of Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.

Page 10



465  Debt Write Off Report The Committee were advised that under Appendix 1 – Last 
item that this debt could be pursued and therefore the write 
off figure would need to be amended.

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

The write off of irrecoverable debts totalling £3,563.25 as 
identified in Appendices 1, 2 and 3 be approved. 

466  Communities First The Committee were advised of a further recommendation.

Resolved that:

(a) The contents of the report be noted
(b) An updated report be presented to Cabinet as soon 

as possible

RE-OPENED SESSION

467  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

FULL COUNCIL MEETING 
MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 2ND NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor M Davies (In the Chair)

Councillors C J Barry, R Braithwaite, S P Brown, T Chaplin, 
D Davies, E Galsworthy, D Isaac, A Jones, C T Jones, D Jones, 
G Jones, H R Jones, G Lewis, T Lewis, L A Matthews, 
J McCarthy, K Moran, L Mytton, M O'Neill, D Roberts, S Slater, 
W R Smith, B Toomey, C Tovey, P Williams and S Williams

Officers:
Gareth Chapman (Chief Executive), Carys Kennedy (Head of 
Legal and Governance Services - Monitoring Officer), Ellis 
Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), Lisa Curtis Jones (Chief 
Officer (Social Services)), Cheryllee Evans (Chief Officer 
(Neighbourhood Services)), Steve Jones (Head of Finance), 
Fran Donnelly (H R Manager), Mark Thomas (Head of Corporate 
Services), Ann Taylor (Democratic Services Team Leader) and 
Vicky Robst (Corporate Communications)

Outside Bodies:
Victoria Winkler and Nisreen Mansour – Bevan Foundation

Mair Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

Minutes Silence

The Council observed a Minutes Silence for former Councillor Ron Clark who had recently 
passed away.

Page 13

Agenda Item 3d



468  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor H 
Barrett, Councillor B Carter, Councillor B E Mansbridge, 
Councillor Raymond Thomas and Councillor Richard 
Thomas.

469  Declarations of Interest Councillor D Isaac Declared his Interest in Item 9 – National 
Adoption Services – Proposed National Policy for Adoption 
Allowances as he is a Member of the Adoption Panel.

470  Fair Pay for the Living 
Wage in Merthyr Tydfil

The Chair welcomed Victoria Winkler Director and Nisreen 
Mansour Policy and Research Officer of the Bevan 
Foundation to the Meeting.

Victoria Winkler and Nisreen Mansour then made the 
following Presentation to the Council:

 Information about the Bevan Foundation
 Bevan Foundation research on the Living Wage
 The Living Wage and Merthyr Tydfil – What is the 

Living Wage, Why does it matter to Merthyr, What 
can be done to increase uptake

 What is the Living Wage – Details given of Selected 
Statutory and Voluntary Wage Rates in the UK at 
October 2016

 Who earns it in Merthyr and who doesn’t
 Why should we worry about low pay
 Benefits and Risks
 Other benefits
 An action plan for Merthyr:
 Establish the Merthyr Living Wage
 Set an achievable target
 Target natural sympathisers
 Work together
 Harness the power of the local supply chain
 A fresh approach to funding
 What we’d like you to do

The following questions were then raised by the Members:

 The Council is not accredited at the moment – 
Where is the Authority in relation to this

 What can the Council do to encourage Contractors 
– What are other Councils doing regarding this

The Leader and the Mayor then thanked Victoria Winkler 
and Nisreen Mansour for the Presentation to the Council.

471  Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s)

The Council approved as accurate (subject to any 
amendments) the Minutes of the following Meetings.

471a  Minutes of meeting 
Monday, 26 
September 2016 of 
Scrutiny : 

Arising on these Minutes the Council were advised that 
under Officers the Minutes should read Paul Jones 
Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement Manager.

Page 14



Neighbourhood 
Services and Public 
Protection

Resolved subject to the foregoing that:

The Minutes of the Neighbourhood Services and Public 
Protection Scrutiny Committee held 26 September 2016 be 
accepted as a correct record.

471b  Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 28 
September 2016 of 
Full Council Meeting

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Full Council Meeting held 28 September 
2016 be accepted as a correct record.

471c  Minutes of meeting 
Tuesday, 4 October 
2016 of Scrutiny : 
Regeneration, 
Planning and 
Countryside 
Committee

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Regeneration, Planning and Countryside 
Scrutiny Committee held 4 October 2016 be accepted as a 
correct record.

471d  Minutes of meeting 
Tuesday, 4 October 
2016 Scrutiny : 
Governance, 
Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate 
Services

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee held 4 
October 2016 be accepted as a correct record.

471e  Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 5 October 
2016 of Cabinet

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held 5 October 2016 be 
accepted as a correct record.

471f  Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 5 October 
2016 of Full Council 
Meeting

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Full Council Meeting held 5 October 
2016 be accepted as a correct record.

471g  Minutes of meeting 
Monday, 10 October 
2016 of  Licensing 
Committee

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Licensing Committee held 10 October 
2016 be accepted as a correct record.

471h  Minutes of meeting 
Monday, 10 October 
2016 of Audit 
Committee

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Audit Committee held 10 October 2016 
be accepted as a correct record.

471i  Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 12 
October 2016 of 
Licensing Committee

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Licensing Committee held 12 October 
2016 be accepted as a correct record.

471j  Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 12 
October 2016 of 
Planning , Regulatory 
and Licensing 
Committee

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing 
Committee held 12 October 2016 be accepted as a correct 
record.

Page 15



471k  Minutes of meeting 
Wednesday, 19 
October 2016 of 
Cabinet 

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held 19 October 2016 
be accepted as a correct record.

472  Whistleblowing 
Process within the 
Council

Resolved that:

(a) The contents of the report in respect of the use of 
Whistleblowing within the Authority be noted

(b) The Action Plan attached to the report be approved 
and implemented with a report in respect of 
progress being brought back to Council in six 
months 

473  2018 Review of 
Parliamentary 
Constituencies – Initial 
Proposals

Resolved that:

(a) The Local Government Boundary Commission for 
Wales’ Initial Proposals report for the 2018 Review 
of Parliamentary Constituencies in Wales be noted

(b) The Leaders of each Political Group and the 
Independent Members provide comments to the 
Democratic Services Department for collation and 
return to the Boundary Commission for Wales

474  Resolution to Revive 
The Title ‘Honorary 
Recorder of Merthyr 
Tydfil’ And To Appoint 
The Resident Judge Of 
Merthyr Tydfil Crown 
Court

Resolved that:

(a) The position of Honorary Recorder of Merthyr Tydfil 
be restored and the resident Judge of Merthyr Tydfil 
Crown Court or another appropriate Crown Court 
Judge be invited to accept the role, subject to 
approval of the Senior Presiding Judge for England 
and Wales and, if appropriate, expressly limited to 
the duration of his or her tenure as Resident Judge 
with his or her successors in that role to serve 
thereafter

(b) A Ceremony to involve Members of the Council and 
representatives of the judiciary to formally present 
the nominated Judge with a Scroll of Admission as 
‘Honorary Recorder of Merthyr Tydfil’ be approved 

475  Trecatti Landfill Profit 
Share Scheme

Resolved that:

The funds be allocated as follows:

£1,090.00 per Electoral Division with the residual £40.00 
being allocated to the Dowlais Electoral Division.

476  National Adoption 
Services – Proposed 
National Policy for 
Adoption Allowances

Declaration of Interest

Councillor D Isaac having Declared his Interest in this item 
left the Meeting while the item was being considered.

Resolved that:

(a) The content of the report be noted
(b) The work in principle in respect of the financial 

allowances to adopters be supported
(c) A report be received following further work on the 

Policy.

Page 16



477  To deal with any other 
urgent business or 
correspondence

50th Anniversary of the Aberfan Disaster

Councillor B Toomey Leader of the Council addressed the 
Council and referred to the commemorative events that the 
Council had organised, the Church Service on the 20th 
October, the morning service at Aberfan Cemetery and the 
Royal visit by HRH the Prince of Wales on 21 October.

Following the commemoration the Council had received 
many letters including one from Clarence House and the 
Secretary of State for Wales thanking the Council for 
organising the events and for paying such fitting tributes to 
those who lost their lives and to those who survived the 
unimaginable horror of that day fifty years ago.

The First Minister of Wales the Rt Hon Carwyn Jones also 
asked to pass on his personal thanks to all concerned.  
Countless messages and telephone calls had also been 
received from the public expressing thanks for the way the 
commemoration was undertaken.

The Leader on behalf of the Council then thanked all 
members of staff who had worked tirelessly for many 
months in the run up to the 21 October and the day itself.  
Many members of staff came in at 5.30 am and ensured 
everything went as planned. There were too many people 
from across Council Departments to name and they are all 
superb ambassadors for the Council and we should be 
extremely proud of their continued contribution in providing 
vital services to the residents of the County Borough. 

478  To receive 
communications from 
Her / His  Worship the 
Mayor

No communications were received from Her Worship the 
Mayor.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 
MEETING

MONDAY, 7TH NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor D Roberts (In the Chair)

Councillors J McCarthy, W R Smith and Raymond Thomas

Cooptees:
Robert Holdaway

Officers:
Steve Peters (Head of Public Protection and Housing) and Jane 
Sellwood (Central Librarian)

Outside Bodies:
Ceinwen Statter

Howard Jones (Scrutiny Officer) and Jayne Overbury (PA to the 
Mayor and Leader)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

479  Apologies for absence Councillors H Barrett, S Slater and Nicola Mahoney.

480  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

Councillor W R Smith declared his interest in Item 3 of the 
Agenda and left the meeting. The 5th Quality Framework for 
Welsh Public Libraries – Welsh Public Library Standards 
Return 2015-16 as he is a Member of the Leisure Trust.

Page 19

Agenda Item 3e



481  The 5th quality 
framework for Welsh 
public libraries - Welsh 
Public Library 
Standards Return 
2015-16

The Chair welcomed Jane Sellwood to the meeting and 
referred the Committee to the report and handed to Jane 
Sellwood to outline the purpose of the report.

Jane Sellwood went through the report in detail and 
informed the Committee that Merthyr Tydfil is no longer on 
the bottom of the list and the percentage of children and 
adults now using the library has increased and updated on 
the performance of the Library Service, the following 
questions were raised by the Committee:-

 With the mobile library service being stopped how 
has this impacted on the general public?

 With the introduction of the library being placed 
within Aberfan Community Centre can this be 
replicated in other community centres?

 The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
established a legal framework to impose a duty on 
organisations to comply with one or more standards 
of conduct on the Welsh Language.  How is this 
affecting out libraries?

 The letter mentions that you are looking at different 
staffing models.  Can you explain what this is 
about?

 You mentioned during your last visit that there is 
reluctance amongst staff to gain qualifications with 
no prospect for promotion as a result.   Have you 
been able to implement and address this, or is this 
still the opinion of staff?

 The committee understands that Torfaen’s libraries 
are working to become Wales’s first Dementia 
Friendly library service.  Have you considered 
anything similar?

The Chair congratulated the team in library service for their 
exemplary work and hitting the targets.  

The Chair then read out recommendation 2.1 of the report.

The Chair thanked the officers for attending.

Councillor B Smith re-entered the Committee Room.

482  Performance Report - 
Public Protection 
Service

The Chair welcomed Steve Peters to the meeting and 
referred the Committee to the report.

Steve Peters went through the report in detail. He thanked 
Maria Purcell for her assistance in helping to prepare the 
template for this report.

The following questions were then raised by the 
Committee:-

 With the Deregulations Act coming into force in 
2015 how are taxi drivers now checked by Trading 
Standards.

 Does the DVLA inform the Local Authority of any 
driving convictions?

Page 20



 Do we do out of office spot checks on taxi drivers?
 Will these checks be carried out over the Christmas 

period?
 A report should be brought back to this committee 

in January 2017.
 All Landlords and agents must comply with the new 

Ren Smart Wales laws by 23rd November 2016. 
How is this progressing and what are the penalties 
if they haven’t complied?

 What is the knock on effect on how this scheme is 
being run and how is this information fed back to 
residents?

 The responsibility for fly-tipping has been 
transferred over to the new team based down in 
Unit 20.  How has this affected your tam; have you 
lost any staff, and are staff free to carry out other 
duties instead?

 Within the Registry Services how are these 
indicators checked?

 How has the change in Trading Standards to 
become intelligence-driven affected service 
delivery?

 Food Safety impact on how services are delivered, 
how are we fixed with staffing?

 Will this problem be rectified as this could be a 
potential risk and are we going to go down this 
route?

 Can this be taken forward?
 Are all the Trading Standard measures internal?
 With regard to underage sales are these figures 

being fed back and are we implementing this over 
the Christmas period?

 When landlords have registered under the new 
legislation are you putting this information in the 
press to publicise to make tenants aware what is 
happening?

The Chair then read out the recommendation 2.1 of the 
report.

483  Performance Report - 
Community Safety

Steve Peters went through the report in detail and the 
following questions were then raised by Committee:-

 Substance misuse where are we at the moment on 
this as it seems to be getting out of control?

 How do this indicators work.
 Service challenge was addressed and discussed 

there needs to be a balance.
 Do you think a joint scrutiny should be set up with 

Cwm Taf Community Partnership Board?
 Where does this scrutiny committee take place?  

Howard Jones to take this forward.
 Anti-social behaviour are these figures just for 

Merthyr Tydfil?

Page 21



 Community safety is delivered across a range of 
organisations, how is the management of data 
handles to ensure a full picture of community safety 
can be achieved?

 Public Protection Order will be inforce in December 
will PSCO be able to challenge?

The Chair thanked Steve Peters for the delivery of items 4 
and 5.

484  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

Performance Reports the judgements and evaluations were 
noted and debated.

485  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair advised that there are no actions points but the 
work program does need to be set.

486  Rhaglenni Gwaith 
Pwyllgor Craffu 2016-
17 / Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2016-17

The Committee considered and agreed the Forward Work 
Programme. 

Move Crime & Disorder meeting from 30th January 2017 to 
13th March 2017. 

To consider Joint Scrutiny with Cwm Taf?

Also Performance Report – Community Safety add an item 
on the agenda after Christmas for Alyn Owen to attend.

487  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no other business 
deemed urgent.

Page 22



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS 
CHANGE AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES MEETING

TUESDAY, 8TH NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor T Lewis (In the Chair)

Councillors D Isaac, B Carter, L Mytton, D Roberts, W R Smith, 
S Williams and Richard Thomas

Councillor P Williams - Cabinet

Officers:
Ewan McWilliams (Corporate Performance Manager), Alexandra 
Beckham (Child Protection) and Andrew Mogford (Strategic 
Business Analyst)

Howard Jones (Scrutiny Officer) and Mair Morgan (Democratic 
Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

488  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor G 
Jones and Tanya Skinner Co-opted Member.

489  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

Page 23

Agenda Item 3f



490  Child Sexual 
Exploitation  (CSE) 
Safeguarding Action 
Plan

The Chair welcomed Alex Beckham to the Meeting.

The Committee were referred to the ‘Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) Safeguarding Action Plan’ report.

A Member advised that this report had also been 
considered by the Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
where there had been considerable debate.

Councillor L Mytton entered the Meeting at 4.37 pm.

The following questions were then raised on the report and 
were responded to by the Officers:

 Action Plan – Paragraph 2.3 – How do we know 
that there is an effective transition process in place 
– Who says that it is effective – How do we know 
people are not falling through the net

 Paragraph 4.1 –Who sits on the Corporate 
Safeguarding Reference Group and who do they 
report to – Is there anyone from the Drug and 
Alcohol abuse team on the Panel

 How confident are the Officers that self- 
assessment is working properly 

Resolved that:

The Scrutiny comments on the recommendations that are 
outstanding and ongoing actions are remitted to Corporate 
Safeguarding Reference Group in order for effective 
monitoring and reporting to Scrutiny in a regular basis. 

491  Performance Report - 
Business Change

The Chair welcomed Andrew Mogford to the Meeting.

Andrew Mogford led the Committee through the 
’Performance Report: Organisational Support – Business 
Change Strategy’.

The following questions were raised by the Committee and 
were responded to in detail by Councillor P Williams and 
the Officers:

 Are PriceWaterhouseCoopers still involved in 
Business Change

 Are we satisfied that we had value for money from 
the engagement with PriceWaterhouseCoopers

 Will the Councillors have sight of comparison 
figures that showed value for money

Councillor P Williams advised that he would come back to 
the Committee on this matter

 Paragraph 6.1 – Business Change Strategy – How 
robust is the judgement and who has challenged on 
the judgement

 Corporate Strategies – Who else challenges – How 
often are they updated – When will Scrutiny have 
an update of Strategies on a page

 Paragraph 3.3 – Business Change – Is there a live 

Page 24



action plan that reflects what is going on across the 
Authority at any given time – If yes is Scrutiny able 
to access this

Andrew Mogford advised that he would come back to the 
Committee on this matter.

Resolved that:

The judgements and evaluations be noted.

492  Performance Report 
(Corporate Plan) 
Preparation for the 
Wellbeing Duty, 
Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015

The Chair welcomed Ewan McWilliams to the Meeting.

Ewan McWilliams referred the Committee to the 
‘Performance Report – Corporate Plan – Preparation for the 
Wellbeing Duty, Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015’.

Councillor P Williams also referred to the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to by Councillor P Williams and the 
Officers.

 How do the Officers perceive the levels of 
consultation being undertaken

 What mechanisms are in place
 Difficulties for Officers and Councillors
 How to get face to face contact
 The practicality of the Act
 What training will be provided
 How effective is the Cwm Taf Hub – Do we have 

any feedback – Is there a cost
 What is the cost to engage with everyone – Is it 

sustainable – Who will be undertaking the core 
work

Resolved that:

The preparation for the Wellbeing Duty be noted.

493  Task and Finish Group 
Update - Use of 
External Debt 
Recovery Companies

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Use of External 
Debt Recovery Companies’ report together with a leaflet 
that had been produced by the Authority giving advice in 
relation to paying Council Tax.

Resolved that:

(a) The content of the report be noted
(b) A copy of the report be provided to the Portfolio 

Member for Governance and Corporate Services 
and to the Chief Executive for information 

494  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
up Actions

There was no update on this item. 

Page 25



495  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected on the issues that 
had been discussed at the Meeting.

496  Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2016-17

The Committee considered and agreed the Committee 
Work Programme.

497  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 26



MINUTES OF MEETING

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 9TH NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor C T Jones (In the Chair)

Councillors T Chaplin and G Lewis

Officers:
Simon Jones (Senior Solicitor) and Joanne Baber (Licensing 
Officer)

Police Representative:  
Andrew Jenkins (Licensing Officer South Wales Police)

Mair Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

498  Apologies for absence No apologies for absence were received as all Members 
were present.

499  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made.

Exempt

Resolved that:

The public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12 and 13 under Part 4 of Schedule 12A of 
Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 27

Agenda Item 3g



500  Hackney Carriage 
Driver Licence (YA)

Resolved that:

The Hackney Carriage Driver Licence in respect of (YA) be 
granted.

501  Hackney Carriage 
Driver Licence (DLH)

The Committee were advised that the applicant was not 
present.

Resolved that:

The application be deferred and that the applicant (DLH) be 
invited to a Special Licensing Committee Meeting to be held 
21 November 2016.

502  Any other business as 
deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 28



MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING , REGULATORY 
AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 9TH NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor C T Jones (In the Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, T Chaplin, E Galsworthy, A Jones, 
W R Smith, G Lewis and S Williams

Geraint Morgan (Solicitor), Huw Roberts (Group Leader 
Development Control) and David Cross (Principal Planning 
Officer)

Mair Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

503  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor B E 
Mansbridge.

504  Declarations of Interest Councillor T Chaplin Declared his Interest in Item 4 – 
P/16/0096 as his daughter works for Wales and West 
Housing Association.

505  Planning and 
Regulatory Fact 
Finding Visits - 
Thursday 6 October 
2016

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Fact Finding Visit held 6 October 2016 – 
Land at Maesynant, Grove Park be accepted as a correct 
record.

Page 29

Agenda Item 3h



506  P/16/0096 - Former 
Labour Exchange, 
Penydarren Road, 
Merthyr Tydfil

Declaration of Interest

Councillor T Chaplin having Declared his Interest in this 
item left the Meeting whilst this matter was being 
considered.

Application

Construction of an affordable housing scheme (consisting of 
12 dwellings and 8 flats) including off street parking, 
landscaping and associated works

The Planning Officer led the Committee in detail through the 
report.

The following question was then raised by a Member and 
was given a detailed response:

 Why has this development taken so long as it has 
been ongoing for a number of years

 
After consideration by the Committee it was

Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Countryside the Planning Application be 
approved subject to the conditions as outlined in the report. 

507  P/16/0111 - Land to 
the South and East of 
the Parc Cwm Pant 
Bach Estate, 
Heolgerrig, Merthyr 
Tydfil

Application

Change of use of land to provide a 1 metre wide landscape 
buffer (enclosed by fencing) to the rear of plots 13, 14, 15, 
16, 17, 18, 19, 28, 29 and 31 to protect the Cwm Glo 
Glyndyrus SSSI

The Planning Officer led the Committee in detail through the 
report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to by the Planning Officer:

 Were all the objectors residents
 What would be the consequences of refusal
 How many of the Conditions are still outstanding
 Will the fence prevent the throwing of grass cuttings
 Should there have been more monitoring of the site

After consideration by the Committee it was

Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Countryside the Planning Application be 
approved subject to the conditions as outlined in the report.

508  P/16/0164 - Land at Application

Page 30



Maesynant, Grove 
Park, Merthyr Tydfil Erection of detached dwelling and private drive (Outline)

The Planning Officer led the Committee in detail through the 
report.

The following question was then raised by the Members 
and was responded to by the Planning Officer:

 Why is the application Outline

An outline of the history of the site was then given to the 
Committee with an update in relation to overgrowth, gates 
and the pool.

After consideration by the Committee it was

Resolved that:

In accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Countryside the Planning Application be 
approved subject to the conditions as outlined in the report.

509  Delegated Decision 
Report List - 1 October 
- 31 October 2016

Resolved that:

The Delegated Decision Report List for the Period 1 
October 2016 to 31 October 2016 be received.

510  P/16/0142 - Appeal 
Decision

Resolved that:

Appeal Decision P/16/0142 be received.

511  P/16/0041 - Appeal 
Received

Resolved that:

The Appeal received in relation to P/16/0041 be received.

512  Any Other Business as 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION, 
PLANNING AND 

COUNTRYSIDE COMMITTEE 
MEETING

TUESDAY, 15TH NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor G Jones (In the Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, S P Brown, K Moran and M O'Neill

Cooptees:
Howard Jackson

Officers:
Ken Bateman (Group Leader Building Control), Julian Pike 
(Housing and Community Safety Manager), Ewan McWilliams 
(Corporate Performance Manager), Chris Long (Economic 
Development & Strategic Tourism Manager), Deb Newton-Ryan 
(Community Services Officer), Ryan Barry (Tourism Officer) and 
Zoe Thomas (European & External Funding Support Officer)

Howard Jones (Scrutiny Officer) and Mair Morgan (Democratic 
Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

513  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor B 
Carter, Councillor E C Galsworthy and Councillor C Barry 
Cabinet Member.

Page 33

Agenda Item 3i



514  Declarations of Interest 
(including whipping 
declarations)

No Declarations of Interest were made.

515  Performance Report 
(Corporate Plan)

 Economic 
Growth

The Chair welcomed Ewan McWilliams, Chris Long and 
Zoe Thomas to the Meeting.

Chris Long referred the Committee to the ‘Performance 
Report (Corporate Plan) Economic Growth’ report and 
updated the Committee.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers:

 Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 – 2012 outcomes were 
unsatisfactory and in 2015 they were adequate – 
Who decides what the judgements are – Who 
challenges on the decision and how robust is the 
decision

 Paragraphs 5.3 and 5.4 – What is the ranking for 
the Authority – Should this be included in the table

 Paragraph 4.7 – Part of the last sentence omitted – 
Completion requested

 Paragraphs 8.7 and 8.9 are duplicated
 Paragraph 7.21 – Clarification requested – How do 

statistics improve the Committees understanding – 
Would bullet points or a narrative improve 
understanding

 Paragraph 4.4 – Business deaths – Are the 
businesses that have died contacted – Is there 
anything to show what the reasons are for the 
death of the business

 Paragraph 4.9 – Courses supplied by Merthyr 
College - Update requested regarding courses to 
meet the requirements of employers

 What were the issues in relation to the Organisation 
as outlined in the update to the Committee

 Paragraphs 8.7 and 8.9 – Youth unemployment – 
Update requested in relation to Communities First

 Strategic Partnerships – What are the issues being 
raised

 Paragraph 4.15 – Update requested in relation to 
City Deal

 Update requested on the YMCA
 Paragraphs 7.17 and 7.18 – Explanation requested 

on why the judgements differ as the outcome is 
unsatisfactory in Paragraph 7.17 and good in 
Paragraph 7.18

 Paragraph 1.3 – Employability in the County 
Borough is outside the control of the Authority – 
How can the Authority reconcile this

Resolved that:

The judgements and evaluations be noted.

516  Destination 
Management Plan 

The Chair referred the Committee to the ‘Destination 
Management Plan Update’ report.

Page 34



Update
The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officers: 

 Paragraph 5.8 – Cyfarthfa Furnaces – What is 
the ultimate Plan

 Has the Destination Management Co-ordinator 
position been filled

 Attractions signage
 Paragraphs 5.3 and 5.4 – Why is the Heritage 

Trust not listed in the report – Can a set of aims 
be supplied to the Committee 

 Paragraph 6.4 – What are the accurate figures 
for tourists – Are all attractions included in the 
figures

 What is the Departments view in relation to the 
Local Development Plan

 Information requested on an Atlantic 
Programme Project entitled Trail Gazers

 Update requested on Dark Sky status – How 
much is incorporated into the Destination 
Management plan

Resolved that:

The contents of the report be noted.

517  Performance Report - 
Building Control

The Chair welcomed Ken Bateman to the Meeting.

Ken Bateman referred the Committee to the ‘Performance 
Report – Building Control’ report.

Arising on Paragraph 1.2 of the report the Committee were 
advised that it should read December 2015 and not 
December 2016.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officer:

 Is the Building Regulation Function of the Service 
cost neutral to the Council

 Paragraphs 6.9 and 6.11 – How much income will 
this bring in to the Authority 

 Appendix lll – Building Control – How is the 
Business Case for a new post within Building 
Control progressing 

Councillor H Barrett left the Meeting at 4.15 pm.

 What are the IT issues and what has the 
Department suggested – How do other Local 
Authorities address this – Is this a Corporate issue 

The Committee then agreed that the Deputy Chief 
Executive be contacted regarding this issue. 

 Are there figures available giving details of Planning 
applications received and the Building Regulations 

Page 35



income received

Resolved that:

The judgements and evaluations be noted.

518  Performance Report - 
Housing

The Chair welcomed Julian Pike to the Meeting.

Julien Pike referred the Committee to the ‘Performance 
Report – Housing’ report.

The following questions were then raised by the Committee 
and were responded to in detail by the Officer:

 Paragraph 3.2 – Housing (Wales) Act 2014 – 
Advice given on this – Landlord awareness of the 
Act 

 Are affordable homes being built
 Do any Housing Associations have building plans 

and if yes what are they
 How closely does the Department work with the 

Planning Department
 Paragraphs 5.6 and 5.8 – Adaptions – How is this 

work progressing – Examples requested of 
innovative means of meeting the needs of clients

 Paragraph 1.3 – Is there an I T impact
 Paragraph 8.2 – Have any families been resettled 
 Paragraph 6.2 – Finance in relation to adapting 

three bedroom dwellings
 How will the Well-Being Duty affect the way a new 

Housing Strategy is developed

Mr H Jackson left the Meeting at 4.38 pm.

Resolved that:

The judgements and evaluations be noted. 

519  Scrutiny Referrals, 
Feedback and Follow 
Up Actions

There was no update on this item.

520  Reflection and 
Evaluation of Meeting

The Chair and the Committee reflected in detail on the 
issues that had been discussed at the Meeting.

521  Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2016-17

The Committee considered and agreed the Committee 
Work Programme.

522  Any Other Business as 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 36



MINUTES OF MEETING

CABINET MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 16TH NOVEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor B Toomey (In the Chair)

Councillors P Williams, C J Barry, H R Jones and L A Matthews

Officers
Carys Kennedy (Head of Legal and Governance Services - 
Monitoring Officer), Ellis Cooper (Deputy Chief Executive), Steve 
Jones (Head of Finance), Mark Thomas (Head of Corporate 
Services), Lisa Curtis Jones (Chief Officer (Social Services)), 
Dorothy Haines (Chief Officer (Learning) - Chief Education 
Officer), Alyn Owen (Chief Officer (Community Regeneration)), 
Cheryllee Evans (Chief Officer (Neighbourhood Services)), 
Andrew Mogford (Strategic Business Analyst) and Beth 
Melhuish (Corporate Communications)

Mair Morgan (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

523  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor D 
Jones.

524  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made.

525  Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2016/17 – 
Quarter 2

Resolved that:

(a) The second Revenue Budget Monitoring report for 
the 2016/17 financial year be accepted

(b) Budget Virements as outlined in Appendix 2 be 
approved

(c) Managers to urgently address projected budget 
deficits within their respective service areas, 
identifying all possible remedial measures to offset 
projected deficits

Page 37

Agenda Item 3j



(d) Managers to continue to monitor all revenue 
budgets and immediately notify the Chief Finance 
Officer of potential financial difficulties

526  Regional Priorities for 
Supporting People 
2017-18

Councillor L Matthews advised the Committee that the final 
allocation of grant had now been received as referred to in 
Paragraph 5.2 of the report.

Resolved that:

The regional priorities for Supporting People be noted.

527  Annual Report on Adult 
Safeguarding 
Processes

Resolved that:

The annual activity and new reporting arrangements in 
respect of Adults at Risk be noted.

528  Change Programme  
Quarter Two Progress

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

529  CSSIW Inspection of 
Ty Gurnos Newydd

Resolved that:

The report for Information be received.

530  Any Other Business 
Deemed Urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent.

Page 38



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

CABINET APPOINTMENT

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Should the Leader wish to retain the current Cabinet structure, a new appointment is 
required to fill a vacancy following the recent Executive Member resignation.

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Leader’s instructions are requested.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Section 11(8) of Part II of the Local Government Act 2000 regulates that the number 
of executive members on a local authority Cabinet may not exceed 10.

3.2 In Merthyr Tydfil the current Cabinet consists of 6 members with scrutiny committee 
remits aligned to cabinet member portfolios.  Responsibility for the appointment of 
these members sits with the Leader.

3.3 As the recent resignation of an executive member upsets the configuration of the 
portfolios and committees, if the Leader wishes to retain the current structure, he will 
need to appoint a new Cabinet member.

Date Written 21st November 2016
Report Author Ann Taylor
Service Area Legal and Governance
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 A Cabinet member is a senior salary appointment, but as the post will be replacing a 
recent vacancy not creating an additional post, there will be no increased cost to the 
authority.

5.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

5.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the proposals have no negative impact on all aspects of the 
Corporate Plan and single Integrated Plan.  No negative impacts have been 
identified.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Local Government Act 2000 Democratic Services

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 40



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 To 
2020/21 – Progress Update

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Provisional Welsh Local Government Settlement was announced on 19th 
October 2016 and resulted in a funding reduction of 0.5% for Merthyr Tydfil for the 
2017/18 financial year.

1.2 The revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 was approved at 
Council of 7th September 2016 and indicated a revised projected budget deficit of 
£4.671 million for 2017/18 and a projected budget deficit of £15.260 million for the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

1.3 Further proposals were considered at Budget Board on 2nd November 2016 and 
Cabinet on 30th November 2016 resulting in revised budget deficit projections of 
£2.479 million for 2017/18 and £13.700 million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20, 
and form the basis of this report to Council.

1.4 The revised budget projections assume 100% delivery of the strategic partnership 
budget reduction proposals of £1.748 million for 2017/18 and £3.256 million for the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

1.5 The revised budget projections assume a Council Tax increase of 3.5% for the 
period of the Medium Term Financial Plan, as approved for 2016/17. 

 

Date Written 17th November 2016
Report Author Steve Jones
Service Area Finance
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



1.6 Further reports to Cabinet and Council will identify further budget reduction 
proposals in addressing the projected £2.479 million budget deficit for 2017/18.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Cabinet recommended Medium Term Financial Plan revisions detailed in 
paragraphs 5 to 8 and Appendices 3 to 4 be approved.

2.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan revisions detailed in paragraph 9 and Appendix 5 
be noted as previously approved by Cabinet and through Delegated Authority.

2.3 Further proposals to address the revised budget deficit of £2.479 million for 2017/18 
be identified and recommended to subsequent Cabinet and Council meetings for 
approval.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2017/18 was announced on 19th 
October 2016 and is governed by the following characteristics:

 
o A total revenue funding increase for all Welsh Local Authorities of 0.09% 

(£3.788 million) from an adjusted 2016/17 base of £4.104 billion to £4.108 
billion

o A revenue funding reduction for Merthyr Tydfil of 0.5% (£446,000) from an 
adjusted 2016/17 base of £89.236 million to £88.790 million

o Four Local Authorities, namely Merthyr Tydfil, Blaenau Gwent, Powys and 
Wrexham are supported by a “floor mechanism” whereby the Welsh 
Government ensures that no Local Authority experiences a funding reduction 
greater than 0.5%

o Without the “floor mechanism” Merthyr Tydfil would have experienced a 
funding reduction of 1.16% equating to a further cash reduction of £585,000. 

o Merthyr Tydfil’s revenue settlement is ranked joint 19th (with the other three 
Local Authorities supported by the floor) of all 22 Welsh Local Authorities but 
2nd best on a per capita basis

o Funding formula and data set changes have resulted in Merthyr Tydfil moving 
from 4th best revenue settlement in 2016/17 to bottom four with protection in 
2017/18 

o There is no formal Welsh Government mandated 1% cash protection 
commitment for schools 

3.2 The summary Provisional Revenue Settlement for 2017/18 is included as Appendix 1 
and is re-produced from the documentation received from the Welsh Government. In 
addition the Welsh Government paper in respect of changes to key data sets is 
included as Appendix 2. The Final Local Government Settlement is to be announced 
on 21st December 2016 with no material adjustments expected. 

 

Page 42



3.3 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2016/17 to 2019/20 was approved by 
Council on 23rd March 2016 and subsequently revised at Council on 7th September 
2016 to reflect the following approved amendments:

o Unavoidable increased service demands
o Updated information
o Implementation of Foundation Living Wage
o Cessation of the South Wales Trunk Road Agent (SWTRA) contract
o Contributions from Earmarked Reserves
o Service outcome focused redesign
o Voluntary Early Retirement and Voluntary Redundancy
o Back Office Support and Strategic Corporate Services
o Increase in Fees and Charges
o Capitalisation of employee severance costs
o Amendment to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy
o Strategic partnership

3.4 The updated MTFP taking into account the approved amendments is summarised in 
Table 1, and indicated a revised budget deficit of £4.671 million for 2017/18 and a 
cumulative £15.260 million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Table 1 – Revised MTFP 2016/17 to 2019/20   

Description 2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Budget Deficit – Council 23rd 
March 2016
Proposed Corporate Adjustments
           
Approved Accounting Adjustments

Approved Budget Reductions
 
Further Corporate Budget Reduction 
Proposals

Strategic Partnership Budget 
Reduction Proposals

4,079

188

-1,621

-1,792

-610

-244

10,017

333

-1,585

-1,968

-378

-1,748

15,303

1,061

-1,566

-1,914

-461

-2,956

20,302

1,068

-796

-1,866

-192

-3,256

Revised Budget Deficit 0 4,671 9,467 15,260

3.5 Delivery of the budget reduction measures is monitored by the Change Management 
Board supported by the Change Management Steering Group with the Budget Board 
responsible for the monitoring of the Council’s total Net Revenue Budget.

Page 43



4.0 REVISED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

4.1 A Medium Term Financial Plan is a rolling programme, continually evolving as further 
information and changing circumstances become known. The following identified 
changes are considered within this report:

o Implications of provisional settlement
o Schools’ commitment
o Corporate growth requirements
o Corporate budget reductions
o Service outcome focused redesign

4.2 The financial impact of the above changes to the reported budget deficits for 2017/18 
to 2019/20 are outlined in Table 2. It should be noted that the projected financial 
position for 2020/21 is currently being determined in establishing the MTFP for the 4 
year period 2017/18 to 2020/21 and will be reported to a subsequent Cabinet and 
Council. 

Table 2 – Revised Projected Budget Deficits 2017/18 to 2019/20

Description 2017/18 
£’000

2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

Budget Deficit – Council 7th September 
2016
Implications of Provisional Settlement
Schools’ Commitment
Corporate Growth Requirements
Corporate Budget Reductions
Service Outcome Focused Redesign

4,671

-2,785
1,166
1,811

-2,129
-255

9,467

-2,290
1,419
1,796

-2,597
-266

15,260

-2,187
1,651
1,779

-2,528
-275

Revised Budget Deficit 2,479 7,529 13,700

4.3 It is evident from Table 2 that the revised budget deficit is £2.479 million for 2017/18 
and a projected £13.700 million for the 3 year period 2017/18 to 2019/20. It should 
be noted that the revised budget deficits assume 100% delivery of the strategic 
partnership budget reduction proposals of £1.748 million for 2017/18 and £3.256 
million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 as outlined in Table 1.    

4.4 The revised MTFP was presented at a special Budget Board meeting on 2nd 
November 2016 attended by Cabinet and Corporate Management Team and was 
considered at Cabinet on 30th November 2016. Further measures to address the 
remaining budget deficit will be presented to Cabinet and Council in due course. 

4.5 Sections 5 to 9 consider in further detail the required revisions to the MTFP 2017/18 
to 2019/20.

  

Page 44



5.0 IMPLICATIONS OF PROVISIONAL SETTLEMENT

5.1 The Welsh Government’s Provisional Local Government Settlement was announced 
on 19th October 2016 and resulted in a reduction in Aggregate External Finance 
(AEF) for 2017/18 of 0.5% for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. No indications 
were provided in respect of indicative future year settlements thus inhibiting Local 
Authorities’ ability to effectively plan over the medium term.

5.2 The MTFP impact from the provisional settlement is outlined in Table 3 and 
demonstrates increased spending power of £2.785 million for 2017/18.

Table 3 – Implications of Provisional Local Government Settlement   

Description 2017/18 
£’000

2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Aggregate External Finance (AEF)
Original MTFP
Provisional Settlement

86,005
88,790

82,504
84,794

78,792
80,979

75,246
77,334

Increase in AEF -2,785 -2,290 -2,187 -2,088

5.3 The AEF consists of the total of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Redistributed 
Non Domestic Rates. Table 4 compares the budgeted AEF within the original MTFP 
with the revised finance assumptions included in the updated MTFP for 2017/18 to 
2020/21. 

Table 4 – Aggregate External Finance (AEF)

Description 2017/18
%

2018/19
%

2019/20
%

2020/21 
%

Original Budgeted AEF
Revised AEF

-3.57
-0.50

-4.07
-4.50

-4.50
-4.50

n/a
-4.50

5.4 Although it is evident from Table 4 that the Council has provisionally received a 
better than anticipated revenue settlement for 2017/18, in the absence of indicative 
future years’ settlements from the Welsh Government it is proposed that the AEF is 
estimated at a reduction of 4.5% for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21 owing to the 
following:

o The continuing austerity measures projected to be faced by Local 
Government over the medium term and the impact to potential future Local 
Government funding from continued financial pressures experienced in the 
National Health Service

o The uncertainty surrounding the potential implications of Brexit
o Welsh Government’s indication that the 2017/18 revenue settlement is “as 

good as it gets” with potential significant reductions from 2018/19

Page 45



5.5 It is important to re-emphasise that as recently as the Welsh Local Government 
Association Annual Conference on 3rd November 2016 the Welsh Government’s 
Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Local Government, Mark Drakeford, forewarned 
Councils to expect even more significant reductions in Revenue Settlements for 
2018/19 and beyond.

6.0 SCHOOLS’ CASH PROTECTION COMMITMENT

6.1 In the announcement of the Provisional Local Government Settlement for 2017/18 
there was no mention from the Welsh Government’s Cabinet Secretary for Finance 
and Local Government of continued financial commitment to schools through the 
cash protection mechanism. 

6.2 Previously Local Authorities were obliged to apply cash protection for schools at 1% 
above Welsh Government’s funding from Central Government. Based on the Welsh 
Government’s 2016/17 Draft Budget, schools’ were previously advised of an 
indicative cash protection of 1.92% for 2017/18.

6.3 Application of an indicative 1.92% cash protection for 2017/18 results in a projected 
corporate financial commitment of £1.166 million for 2017/18 as indicated in Table 5.

Table 5 – Indicative Schools’ Cash Protection Commitment

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Pupil Number Growth – 2017/18
Cash Protection at 1.92% – 2017/18 
Pupil Number Growth – Future Years
Cash Protection – Future Years

441
725
n/a
n/a

441
725
253

0

441
725
485

0

Total Schools’ Commitment 1,166 1,419 1,651

6.4 The projected schools’ commitment of £1.166 million for 2017/18 is still subject to 
review and will be finalised on completion of the Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 
calculation over the coming months. 

6.5 At the Schools Forum on 9th November 2016 the Chief Finance Officer confirmed the 
requirement for schools to identify £200,000 budget reductions for 2017/18 as part of 
an ongoing efficiency programme in responding to the potential for the Welsh 
Government’s cash protection commitment to be discontinued. This requirement was 
agreed by the Schools Forum on 25th May 2016 with its Task and Finish Group 
tasked with identifying opportunities for budget reductions. 

6.6 Although no future years potential cash commitment is reflected in Table 5 it is 
recognised that the ISB requirement for 2018/19 and beyond will be calculated on 
the same basis as all non-school Council budgets reflecting pay awards, increased 
national insurance contributions, increased pension costs and salary incremental 
progressions.  

Page 46



7.0 CORPORATE GROWTH REQUIREMENTS

7.1 Managers have identified a number of additional expenditure requirements, 
considered unavoidable, for inclusion in the MTFP. These budget growth 
requirements are detailed in Appendix 3 and are summarised in Table 6.

Table 6 – Budget Growth Requirements 

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Net Transfers into the Settlement
New Responsibilities
Welsh Translations
Data Protection Officer
Apprenticeship Levy
Learning – Enhanced Provision
Learning – Special Recoupment
Looked After Children
Single Environment Grant
Miscellaneous Requests

47
93
45
59

263
307
358
210

83
346

47
93
45
64

266
280
359
210

83
349

47
93
45
69

268
249
359
210

83
356

Total Growth Requirements 1,811 1,796 1,779

7.2 It is evident from Table 6 that £1.811 million of corporate growth requirements are 
proposed for the 2017/18 financial year.

7.3 It is recognised that without reflecting these additional expenditure requirements 
within the MTFP the Council will face significant financial pressures in remaining 
within Budget for 2017/18 and the medium to long term. All growth requirements 
however are subject to ongoing review with any identified amendments, owing to 
updated information, reported in due course.    

8.0 CORPORATE BUDGET REDUCTIONS

8.1 A number of corporate budget reduction initiatives are proposed in assisting the 
Council in meeting its financial commitments for 2017/18 and beyond. These are 
detailed in Appendix 4 and summarised in Table 7.

8.2 It is evident from Table 7 that £2.129 million of corporate budget reduction initiatives 
are proposed for the 2017/18 financial year.

Page 47



 Table 7 – Corporate Budget Reduction Initiatives 

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Balance Sheet Review
Insurance Fund Review
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Pension Contributions
Holiday Pay

-1,000
-500
-100
-200
-304

-25

-800
-500
-200
-200
-872

-25

-600
0

-200
-200

-1,503
-25

Total Corporate Budget Reductions -2,129 -2,597 -2,528

8.3 In addressing the requirements of ‘The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015’, the sustainability of all proposals has been considered in minimising the 
potential  impact on future Budgets.  

9.0 SERVICE OUTCOME FOCUSED REDESIGN

9.1 Outcome Focused Redesign of services considers the outcomes the Council is 
aiming to achieve and the most appropriate method of delivery. It defines the 
Council’s “to be” state and underpins the whole Change Management Programme. 
This exercise is fundamental in addressing the Council’s projected budget deficit for 
the 4 year period of the MTFP by ensuring decisions are linked to the Council’s 
strategic ambitions.

9.2 Further outcome focused redesign initiatives are detailed in Appendix 5 and 
summarised in Table 8. It should be noted that these initiatives have already been 
approved by Cabinet and through delegated authority.

Table 8 – Outcome Focused Redesign Initiatives 

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Relocation of the Highways Depot
Voluntary Early Retirement

-135
-120

-135
-131

-135
-140

Total Initiatives -255 -266 -275

9.3 It is evident from Table 8 that £255,000 further budget reductions have been 
identified for 2017/18 and reflected within the MTFP.

Page 48



10.0 COUNCIL TAX ASSUMPTIONS

10.1 The projected available funding and associated budget deficits over the term of the 
MTFP as indicated in Table 2 are based on the following Council Tax assumptions:

o Council Tax increase of 3.5% per annum (as per 2016/17 actual)
o Council Tax collection rate of 96%
o Council Tax base of 17,896.23 (as per 2016/17 actual)

 
10.2 A 1% increase or reduction in the Council Tax increase for 2017/18 would reduce or 

increase the budget deficit by £250,000 respectively.

11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

11.1 The revised MTFP for 2017/18 to 2019/20 currently projects a budget deficit of 
£2.479 million for 2017/18 and £13.700 million for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

11.2 The revised budget deficits assume 100% delivery of the strategic partnership 
budget reduction proposals of £1.748 million for 2017/18 and £3.256 million for the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

12.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

12.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the proposals positively impact on the Financial Sustainability of 
Public Services.

13.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

13.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 49



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2016/17 to 2019/20 
– Progress Update

Provisional Local 
Government Settlement 
2017/18

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21 
- Presentation

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2017/18 
to 2020/21 – Progress 
Update

Medium Term Financial 
Plan / Budget Working 
Papers

Council 23rd March 2016

Council 7th September 
2016

Announced 19th October 
2016

Budget Board 2nd 
November 2016

Cabinet 30th November 
2016

March 2016 to July 
2016

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Cabinet agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Cabinet agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 50



Appendix 1
WELSH LOCAL GOVERNMENT SETTLEMENT 2017-18
Provisional

Table 1a: Change in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) plus top-up funding, adjusted for transfers, by Unitary Authority
£000s

Isle of Anglesey 91,975 92,289 0.3% 7
Gwynedd 167,028 168,590 0.9% 1
Conwy 149,508 150,101 0.4% 6
Denbighshire 139,677 140,349 0.5% 4
Flintshire 184,835 184,989 0.1% 10
Wrexham 169,856 169,007 -0.5% 19
Powys 170,503 169,650 -0.5% 19
Ceredigion 97,056 97,808 0.8% 2
Pembrokeshire 156,973 156,599 -0.2% 16
Carmarthenshire 251,810 251,794 0.0% 12
Swansea 307,936 309,385 0.5% 5
Neath Port Talbot 205,682 206,797 0.5% 3
Bridgend 187,608 187,513 -0.1% 13
The Vale Of Glamorgan 150,521 150,169 -0.2% 15
Rhondda Cynon Taf 353,944 354,778 0.2% 9
Merthyr Tydfil 89,236 88,790 -0.5% 19
Caerphilly 263,424 262,693 -0.3% 17
Blaenau Gwent 109,310 108,764 -0.5% 19
Torfaen 129,365 128,747 -0.5% 18
Monmouthshire 91,599 91,622 0.0% 11
Newport 209,247 209,013 -0.1% 14
Cardiff 426,539 427,976 0.3% 8

Total Unitary Authorities 4,103,632 4,107,420 0.1%

Unitary authority
2016-17 final Aggregate 

External Finance plus top-
up funding

2017-18 provisional 
Aggregate External 
Finance plus top-up 

funding

Percentage 
difference Rank

P
age 51



Appendix 2
Changes in Key Datasets 2017-18
Provisional

Merthyr Tydfil Wales

Dataset 2016-17 
Final

2017-18 
Provisional

% 
Difference Rank 2016-17 

Final
2017-18 

Provisional
% 

Difference

Population - 2014-based 60,077 59,180 -1.5% 18 3,131,170 3,116,371 -0.5%

Pupil Numbers - Nursery and Primary 5,211 5,278 1.3% 13 257,423 261,391 1.5%

Pupil Numbers - Secondary in year groups 7-11 2,906 2,856 -1.7% 16 158,384 156,986 -0.9%

Free School Meals - Primary 1,113 1,074 -3.5% 15 47,125 46,265 -1.8%

Free School Meals - Secondary 667 614 -7.9% 22 27,664 27,055 -2.2%

Children in out of work families 3,600 3,400 -5.6% 19 138,700 133,400 -3.8%

Total IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - 18 to 64 3 3,586 2,916 -18.7% 15 129,068 106,468 -17.5%

Total IS/ JSA/ PC claimants - 65+ 2,583 2,493 -3.5% 2 127,130 121,761 -4.2%

Total IS/ JSA/ PC/UC (not in employment) claimants - all ages 3 6,180 5,417 -12.4% 21 256,860 228,789 -10.9%

SDA/DLA/PIP claimants - 18 to 64 3,763 3,893 3.4% 17 138,725 145,035 4.5%

Where:

IS = Income Support

JSA = Job Seekers Allowance

PC = Pension Credit

UC = Universal Credit

SDA = Severe Disablement Allowance

DLA = Disability Living Allowance

PIP = Personal Independence Payment

P
age 52



Appendix 3

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Transfers In to and Out of the Settlement
Funding previously provided as specific grants has 
been transferred into the settlement for 2017/18, 
namely:

• Social Services Delivering Transformation 
Grant (£61,959)

• Deprivation of Liberty Standards Safeguards 
(£3,165)

• Blue Badge Scheme Additional Funding 
(£230)

• Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (£1,249)
In addition a change in the arrangements for the 
registration of the education workforce has resulted 
in a transfer out of the settlement monies formerly 
provided for teacher registration fee subsidies 
(£19,328)

47 47 47

New Responsibilities
There are two new responsibilities included within 
the Settlement:

1. £86,379 to fund the commitment to increase 
the capital limit for charging for residential 
care from £24,000 to £30,000

2. £6,444 to fund the commitment to fully 
disregard the War Disablement Pension in 
financial assessments for social care.

93 93 93

Welsh Translations
Additional costs arising from compliance with 
statutory Welsh Language Standards as reported 
to Council, most recently 7th September 2016.

45 45 45

Data Protection Officer
Creation of a Data Protection Officer post in 
compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2016 as approved by Council 28th 
September 2016 

59 64 69

Page 53



Appendix 3 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Apprenticeship Levy
This relates to the introduction of a UK 
Government employment tax on 06 April 2017, 
introduced through the 2016 Finance Bill, to 
finance apprenticeships. It applies to all Employers 
(public, private and third sector) with a pay bill in 
excess of £3 million. The levy is calculated as 
0.5% of the pay bill less an allowance of £15,000 
per year.

263 266 268

Learning – Enhanced Provision
Relates to additional learning needs within schools. 
Current financial pressures in respect of 2016/17 
were reported to Cabinet on 27th July 2016 and 
16th November 2016. In addition, both the Cabinet 
Member and Chief Officer for Learning attended 
the Budget Boards of August and October 2016 to 
explain the reasons for the financial pressures. 

307 280 249

Learning – Special Recoupment
Relates to additional placements and increased 
transport costs in respect of out of county 
placements for children with special needs. Current 
financial pressures in respect of 2016/17 were 
reported to Cabinet on 27th July 2016 and 16th 
November 2016. In addition, both the Cabinet 
Member and Chief Officer for Learning attended 
the Budget Boards of August and October 2016 to 
explain the reasons for the financial pressures.

358 359 359

Looked After Children
This reflects financial pressures resulting from 
additional residential placements within the 
‘Looked After Children’ system. Current financial 
pressures in respect of 2016/17 were reported to 
the Budget Boards of September and October 
2016 and Cabinet of 16th November 2016. In 
addition, both the Cabinet Member and Chief 
Officer for Social Services attended the October 
Budget Board to explain the reasons for the 
financial pressures.

210 210 210

Page 54



Appendix 3 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
Corporate Growth Requirements

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Single Environment Grant
Reflects a 6.72% reduction in the all Wales figure 
for 2017/18. MTCBC’s allocation yet to be 
confirmed.

83 83 83

Miscellaneous Requests
Relates to growth requests received from service 
managers. Currently subject to further review, 
scrutiny and challenge. 

346 349 356

Total 1,811 1,796 1,779

Page 55



Appendix 4

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Balance Sheet and Bad Debt Provision Review
Relates to the following initiatives:

• Re-classification of accounts from debtors 
and creditors to earmarked reserves within 
the 2015/16 accounts closure process.

• Proposed revision to the bad debt provision 
from the current methodology based on 
fixed percentages linked to the age of 
outstanding debt to one encompassing a 
review of trend data. To be introduced for 
the 2016/17 closure of accounts exercise. 

• Review and consolidation of existing 
earmarked reserves

It is projected that a potential £3 million is available 
to assist with the medium term budget process for 
the next 5 years based on a £200,000 per annum 
reduction in contribution.

-1,000 -800 -600

Insurance Fund Review
A review incorporating insurance claims trends and 
projections together with Insurance Fund 
comparisons with all Welsh Local Authorities has 
concluded that no insurance fund injection is 
required for 2017/18 to 2018/19. This proposal will 
reduce the Insurance Fund from a balance of 
£2.031 million at 31st March 2016 to a projected 
balance of between £1.031 million and £1.331 
million at 31st March 2019. This is deemed 
satisfactory as an Insurance Provision totalling 
£1.030 million at 31st March 2016 also exists to 
meet the Council’s currently known outstanding 
insurance claims obligations.   

-500 -500 0

Corporate Vacancy Factor
Relates to savings resulting from the time elapsing 
between core funded posts becoming vacant and 
being filled. Proposal to increase budget from 
£200,000 to £300,000 for 2017/18 and from 
£100,000 to £300,000 from 2018/19. Surplus 
outturn reported to Cabinet of 27th July 2016 and 
16th November 2016 and Budget Board throughout 
2016/17.

-100 -200 -200

Page 56



Appendix 4 (continued)

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
Corporate Budget Reductions

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Budget reductions owing to reducing caseloads in 
respect of eligible demand for assistance with 
council tax payments as reported to Cabinet on 
27th July 2016 and 16th November 2016 and 
Budget Board throughout 2016/17. Caseload has 
reduced from 7,708 at 30th September 2013 to 
6,920 at 30th September 2016.

-200 -200 -200

Pension Contributions
Valuation of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Pension Fund 
by the Fund’s actuary Aon Hewitt October 2016 
has resulted in proposed employer’s pension 
contributions as follows:

• 2017/18 at 27.9% (budgeted 29.1%)
• 2018/19 at 28.55% (budgeted 32.0%)
• 2019/20 at 29.2% (budgeted 35.0%)

The budgeted figures within the Medium Term 
Financial Plan reflected the actuary’s Fund outlook 
in November 2015. The pension contribution for 
2016/17 is 25.5%.

-304 -872 -1,503

Holiday Pay
Reduction in original estimate of £125,000 for 
holiday pay for employees regularly working above 
contracted hours.

-25 -25 -25

Total -2,129 -2,597 -2,528

Page 57



Appendix 5

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21
Service Outcome Focused Redesign

Description 2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Relocation of the Highways Depot
Net saving by sharing depot with Rhondda Cynon 
Taf CBC  (cost of £15,000) on exercising the break 
clause within the lease agreement for the existing 
depot at Unit 20 – approved by Cabinet 27th July 
2016.

-135 -135 -135

Education and Admissions
Voluntary Early Retirement delegated authority 
July 2016

-22 -30 -37

Additional Learning Needs Reconfiguration
Voluntary Early Retirement  delegated authority 
October 2016

-98 -101 -103

Total -255 -266 -275

Page 58



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen,

MERTHYR TYDFIL BOROUGH WIDE YOUTH FORUM (MTBWYF) CO-
OPTED MEMBERSHIP ON THE AUTHORITY’S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Authority has been approached by Safer Merthyr Tydfil, which now supports the 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF), to consider Youth Forum 
representation as co-opted members on each of the Councils five scrutiny 
committees. 

1.2 This report proposes that an invitation is extended to the Forum to nominate five 
representatives from it to sit as “Youth Forum Co-opted Members” (Non-voting) i.e. 
one on the each of the five Scrutiny Committees to represent young people of the 
County Borough. 

1.3 Such a position will provide a voice for young people where their views and ideas 
can be considered via the Authority’s decision-making processes.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum be invited to nominate one Youth 
Forum Co-opted Member to sit as a non-voting co-opted member on each of the 
Authority’s five scrutiny committees.

2.2 That the Authority’s Constitution be amended accordingly.

Date Written 14th November 2016
Report Author Howard Jones
Service Area Legal and Governance Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 An enquiry has been received from the Senior Youth Participation Officer at Safer 
Merthyr Tydfil about including young people from the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide 
Youth Forum in the scrutiny process as co-opted members. 

Safer Merthyr Tydfil delivers on this Authority’s commitment in ensuring that young 
people of the County Borough are provided with the opportunity to influence and 
shape the services that affect them.

3.2 Scrutiny plays an important role in ensuring that local government remains effective 
and accountable and co-opted members bring an outside perspective to enrich the 
scrutiny process and their presence on scrutiny committees also makes the process 
more open and transparent for members of the public. 

Co-opted members are like any other scrutiny member - the only difference is that 
co-opted members (with the exception of statutory co-optees) do not vote, although 
virtually all scrutiny business is conducted without the need to vote.

3.3 MTCBC has different categories of co-opted members on its scrutiny committees i.e. 
Publically Appointed; Voluntary Sector; Merthyr Tydfil Association of School 
Governors Rep; Diocese representative; Parent Governor Primary representative 
and Parent Governor Secondary/Special representative. 

4.0 PROPOSAL FOR MERTHYR TYDFIL BOROUGH WIDE YOUTH 
FORUM (MTBWYF) REPRESENTATION AS SCRUITNY CO-OPTED 
MEMBERS

4.1 The Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum is open to every young person 
throughout the County Borough between the ages of 11 and 25.

4.2 The role1 of the MTBWYF is “to provide young people with the opportunity to express 
their views freely and openly; to make changes in their community and take 
responsibility for decisions that affect their lives. To be democratic; Young people are 
not just representing themselves but providing a voice for all young people’s 
thoughts and ideas on local issues. To give young people a voice and choice”.

4.3 It is proposed that an invitation is extended to the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth 
Forum to nominate five representatives from the Forum to sit as “Youth Forum Co-
opted Members” (Non-voting) i.e. one on the each of the five Scrutiny Committees.  

4.4 The nominated representatives will be afforded the opportunity to attend Scrutiny 
Committee meetings, any training and development sessions, receive agendas and 
reports for meetings, with the opportunity to speak on agenda items and provide 
views/comments on behalf of the Youth Forum.

1 Extracted from the “MTBWYF Terms of Reference” as provided by Safer Merthyr Tydfil. 

Page 60



4.5 The appointments, whilst in a non-voting capacity, would provide a further 
opportunity for the Authority to further formally engage with young people.  The 
appointments are to be agreed on the basis that the representatives are members of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum and subject to change by the Merthyr 
Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum itself. 

4.6 It being accepted that the scrutiny committees meet on a six-weekly basis, it will be 
left to the co-opted member representatives of the Youth Forum to decide whether 
they attend every meeting or just meetings where they have a particular interest.  

The Scrutiny Committee may also call upon the nominated representatives to attend 
if it feels the views of the young people would be required on a particular area of 
service.

4.7 In relation to attendance, there would also be the opportunity for representatives to 
claim mileage or transport costs to attend the scrutiny committee meetings and 
training events, as is the case with all scrutiny committee co-opted members.

4.8 If approved, the appointment of Youth Service co-opted member representatives to 
the Scrutiny Committee will enhance the scrutiny process and allow for young people 
between the ages of 11 and 25 to provide information, suggestions or comments for 
consideration by the Committee, and also participate in the preparation of the annual 
work programmes.

4.9 Youth Service Co-opted members must sign the Authority’s Code of Conduct and 
the Register of Interests. 

4.10 The arrangement of Youth Service co-opted member representatives to the Scrutiny 
Committee is to be reviewed every two years. The MTCBC Constitution provides for 
the term of office for co-opted members.2

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 Youth Forum representatives will be able to claim mileage or transport costs to 
attend the scrutiny committee events e.g. (meetings / training sessions), as is the 
case with all scrutiny committee co-opted members.

6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed 
and the proposals impact positively in empowering children’s and young people’s to 

2 Co-opted members shall hold office until: a). they resign from office; or b). they are removed from office by the organisation they 
represent: or c). they fail to attend a meeting of the scrutiny committee of which he or she is a member for a continuous period of six 
months beginning with the date of a meeting shall, on the expiry of that period, cease to be qualified to hold that office: or d). they are 
removed from office by the Leader who must give written notice of any removal to the proper officer. The removal will take effect two 
working days after receipt of the notice by the proper officer; or e). they are removed from office by resolution of the Council: or f). they 
are removed from office by resolution of a scrutiny Committee.

Page 61



participate in the decision making process on services that affect their lives. No 
negative impacts have been identified.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Authority’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Yes

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 62



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen,

MTCBC Membership Of The “Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board Joint Overview And Scrutiny Committee”
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 On 5th October 2016 a report was submitted to Council seeking approval for the 
establishment of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee between this Authority 
and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council. This was approved by Council. 

1.2 At the meeting Council gave delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the Governance, 
Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee, to 
amend and finalise the terms of reference (see draft version at APPENDIX I).

1.3 This report seeks Councils approval for delegated authority to be given to the Leader 
of the Council, in consultation with the Leader of the Opposition and the Chief 
Executive, to confirm this Authority’s Elected Member membership of the joint 
scrutiny committee, taking into account political balance requirements. 

1.4 This report also seeks approval for delegated authority to be given to the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the 
Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Committee, to finalise any aspects of the establishment of the JOSC, on behalf 
of this Authority.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Delegated authority is given to the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Opposition and the Chief Executive, to agree and confirm this 
Authority’s Elected Member membership of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Date Written 16th November 2016
Report Author Howard Jones
Service Area Legal and Governance Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



2.2 Delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council and the Chair of the Governance, Performance, Business Change and 
Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee, to finalise, on this Authority’s behalf, any 
aspects in setting up the Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Members will recall a report to Council on 5th October 20161 when the Council 
agreed to set up a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) comprising 
elected Members of both Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Councils to scrutinise the Cwm Taf Public Services Board.

3.2 Included with the 5th October report were the draft Terms of Reference for the JOSC. 
(Terms of reference shown again at Appendix I for ease of reference). Extracts 
include:-

6) Elected Member Membership (Councillors) 

a. There will be an equal number of Elected Members from each appointing authority and no 
executive members may be on the committee. 

b. The JOSC will comprise ten Elected Members; that is five non-executive Elected Members 
from Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and five non-executive Elected Members 
from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

c. Each local authority will determine and nominate its elected committee Members in 
accordance with its own arrangements. The term of office of the nominated Elected Members 
shall be a matter for each nominating local authority, subject to a minimum planned term of 
one municipal year. 

13. Political Balance 

a. Each appointing authority must ensure that, as far as practicable, the members of the JOSC 
reflect the balance of political groups for the time being prevailing among the members of the 
appointing authority. 

3.3 Whilst the Terms of Reference have yet to be finalised, it is not envisaged that the 
elected membership numbers will change from that as noted at 3.2 above. 

3.4 A recommendation in the 5th October report was: “Council agrees the draft terms of 
reference as set out in Appendix I and gives the Chief Executive, in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council and the Chair of the Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee, delegated authority to amend 
and finalise the terms of reference in accordance with the parameters set out herein”

3.5 This report seeks Council’s further agreement to 1) delegate the decision to agree 
MTCBC membership of the JOSC and 2) delegate the authority to finalise any 
requirements for the establishment of the JOSC. Please see the recommendations 
at 2.1 and 2.2 for details.

1 “Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – Scrutiny of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board” report to Council 
5th October 2016.

Page 64



3.6 It is envisaged that the MTCBC Elected member membership of the JOSC will be 
chosen from the membership of the Performance, Business Change and Corporate 
Services Scrutiny Committee, although it will not be limited to that committee. The 
only requirement is that no Cabinet members can be on the JOSC.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report. 

5.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

5.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and no negative impacts have been identified.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

As per page references

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Firs
t D

raf
t

APPENDIX I 
Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

DRAFT Terms of Reference 

1. Statutory Provisions. 

2. Name of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

3. Purpose of the Joint Scrutiny Committee 

4. Intended outcome(s) of the joint overview and scrutiny committee 

5. Accountability Framework 

6. Elected Member Membership (Councillors) 

7. Quorum 

8. Duration of the JOSC and procedures for withdrawal 

9. Co-opted Members 

10. Termination of membership on ceasing to be a member of the authority / suspension from 

membership. 

11. Voting rights 

12. Sub Committees of the JOSC 

13. Political Balance  

14. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair 

15. Access to meetings and documentation etc.  

16. Resolving disagreements 

17. Meetings of the JOSC 

18. Work programme (Forward Plan) 

19. Invitations to the Cwm Taf Public Service Board 

20. Access to information rules 

21. Rules of Procedure 

22. Declarations of Interest 

23. Confidentiality of Information 

24. Administrative arrangements 

25. JOSC meeting procedures (including sub-committees) 

26. Responding to the JOSC recommendations 

27. Reports of the JOSC 

28. Evidence Gathering 

29. Setting the agenda 

30. Reference of matters to joint overview and scrutiny committee, etc 

31. Public Engagement 

32. Training and Development 

33. Expenses, Allowances and Salaries 

34. Meeting Venue / time 

Page 67



Firs
t D

raf
t

Terms of Reference 

 

1. Statutory Provisions. 
 
a) The joint overview and scrutiny committee (JOSC) has been established in 

accordance with  the following legislation:- 
 

• The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (Sec 58 – Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) 

• The Local Authorities (Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) 
Regulations 2013.  

• Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (Part 4, Chapter 1, Sec 35 - 
Overview and scrutiny committee of local authority). 

 
b) The conduct of the JOSC and the arrangements for joint scrutiny shall be subject to 

the legislative provisions in a) above, and any regulations or guidance made in 
accordance with the legislation; and in the event of any conflict between the Act 
and/or Regulations and any joint arrangements, the requirements of the legislation 
will prevail. 

 
2. Name of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
a) The appointing Authorities are Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 

b) The title of the JOSC between the two Authorities shall be the “Cwm Taf Public 
Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee” (The JOSC for the purpose of 
this document).  
 

3. Purpose of the Joint Scrutiny Committee 
 
a) The overall aim of the JOSC is to scrutinise the overall effectiveness of the Cwm Taf 

Public Services Board (the Board). 
 
b) The core statutory functions of the JOSC are:- 

 
• To review or scrutinise the decisions made or actions taken by Board; 
• To review or scrutinise the Board’s governance arrangements; 
• To make reports or recommendations to the Board regarding its functions or 

governance arrangements; 
• To consider matters relating to the Board as the Welsh Ministers may refer to it 

and report to the Welsh Ministers accordingly; and 
• To carry out other functions in relation to the Board that are imposed on it by 

the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  
 

c) In addition to these functions the JOSC’s Lines of Inquiry can include (but not be 
limited to), the following: 
 
• The effectiveness of the Wellbeing Assessment 
• The effectiveness of the Wellbeing Plan 
• The effectiveness of performance measurement arrangements 

Page 68



Firs
t D

raf
t

• The level of commitment from individual partners to the work of the Public 
Services Board 

• The effectiveness of the Public Services Board in communicating its work, 
objectives and outcomes to its stakeholders 

• The effectiveness of the Public Services Board in addressing the issue of pooled 
funding to tackle priorities 

 
d) The remit of the JOSC includes only the activities of the Cwm Taf Public Services 

Board as a partnership and excludes scrutiny of individual partner organisations (see 
also para 5). 

 
e) Existing legislation excludes any matter which could be considered by an Authority’s 

Crime and Disorder Committee (sections 19 and 20 of the Police and Justice Act 
2006) from the work programmes of all other scrutiny committees, sub-committees 
and JOSCs. 

 
4. Intended outcome(s) of the joint overview and scrutiny committee 

 
a) Ensuring that the JOSC achieves the following benefits:-  

 
• Effective challenge is provided to the Cwm Taf Public Service Board and that it 

is achieving the desired aims. 
 

• the focus is on outcomes for people not organisations: shifting the perspective 
from inputs to delivering results; 

 

• the JOSC acting as a unifying force: helping partners address the complex needs 
of citizens across different political, organisational and geographical boundaries; 

 

• Accountability: clarifying different organisations’ contributions to delivery; 
 

• Efficiency: maximise resources;  
 

• Innovation: identifying new insights and solutions. 
 

5. Accountability Framework 
 

a) The parameters for the JOSC as defined within the Future Generations Act are as 
follows: 
 
• The act allows for scrutiny of the PSB as a ‘corporate body’, not the individual 

partners comprising the PSB. Paragraph 169 of the Future Generations guidance 
states that; “The committee can require any member of the board to give 
evidence, but only in respect of the exercise of joint functions conferred on 
them as a member of the board under this Act.” The JOSC will therefore 
scrutinise the work of the PSB and not the individual activities of PSB partners. 

 
• Whilst the joint actions of the PSB will demonstrate the impact and outcomes 

achieved, the JOSC may choose to probe individual partners as to how they 
intend to exercise their well-being duty in line with the PSB’s wellbeing plan. 
Section 36 (1) (c) of the Act (in defining the PSB’s well-being duty) refers to; 
“The taking of all reasonable steps by members of the board (in exercising 
their functions) to meet those objectives.” 

 
• Furthermore, the JOSC can exercise its existing power under S21 (2) (e) of the 

Local Government Act 2000 to; “Make reports or recommendations to the 

Page 69



Firs
t D

raf
t

authority or the executive on matters which affect the authority’s area or the 
inhabitants of that area.” 

 
6. Elected Member Membership (Councillors) 

 
a) There will be an equal number of Elected Members from each appointing authority 

and no executive members may be on the committee.  
 

b) The JOSC will comprise ten Elected Members; that is five non-executive Elected 
Members from Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and five non-executive 
Elected Members from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

 
c) Each local authority will determine and nominate its Elected committee Members in 

accordance with its own arrangements. The term of office of the nominated Elected 
Members shall be a matter for each nominating local authority, subject to a 
minimum planned term of one municipal year. 
 

7. Quorum 
 
a) A quorum of one third of Elected Members of the JOSC will be required to enable a 

meeting to proceed, comprising of at least one Elected Member from each of the 
appointing authorities.  
  

b) A quorum of one half of Elected Members of any JOSC sub-committee will be 
required to enable a meeting to proceed, comprising of at least one Elected Member 
from each of the appointing authorities.  
 

8. Duration of the JOSC and procedures for withdrawal 
 
a) The duration of the JOSC will be until such time as there is written notification from 

the Chief Executive and the Leader of either of the two participating local authorities 
to the Chief Executive and the Leader of the other, advising of the decision to 
withdraw that Authority from the JOSC arrangements. 
 

9. Co-opted Members 
 
a) The JOSC, or a sub-committee, may resolve to co-opt additional members to serve 

on the committee or sub-committee subject to:- 
 
• the appointment being approved by a majority of the members of the JOSC or 

sub-committee. 
 
• the person co-opted to serve on the JOSC, or on a sub-committee, not being 

entitled to vote at any meeting of the committee or sub-committee on any 
question which falls to be decided at that meeting. 

 
• the person not being a member of a local authority, whether that authority is 

one of the appointing authorities or otherwise. 
 
• the membership of a person co-opted to serve on the JOSC, or on a 

subcommittee of such a committee, being withdrawn by a majority vote at any 
time by the JOSC or sub-committee. 

 

Page 70



Firs
t D

raf
t

b) The JOSC will consider appointing co-opted Statutory Members (non-executive) 
from the following organisations:- 

 
• University Health Board,  
• South Wales Fire and Rescue 
• Natural Resources Wales 

 

        and  
 

c) as and when felt appropriate `invited participants` such as the Chief Constable of 
South Wales Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales, Probation 
Services, Voluntary Sector and any other individuals who carry out public functions.   

 
10. Termination of membership on ceasing to be a member of the authority / suspension from 

membership. 
 
a) If an Elected Member appointed to the JOSC ceases to be a member of the 

appointing authority, then that person also immediately ceases to be a member of 
the JOSC.  
 

b) If a person appointed as a member of a JOSC is suspended from being a member or a 
co-opted member of one of the appointing authorities, that person may not serve as 
a member of the JOSC for the duration of the suspension. 
 

c) If a co-opted member appointed to the JOSC ceases to be an employee of the 
organisation he/she was appointed from, then that person immediately ceases to be 
a member of the JOSC.  
 

11. Voting rights 
 

a) All Elected members may vote on any question that falls to be decided at that 
meeting 
 

b) Where there is an equality of votes at a meeting of a JOSC or sub-committee, the 
chair has a second or casting vote. 
 

c) A person co-opted to serve on the JOSC or on a sub-committee is not entitled to 
vote at any meeting of the Committee or sub-committee on any question which falls 
to be decided at that meeting (also see Co-opted Members above). 

 
12. Sub Committees of the JOSC 

 
a) The JOSC can establish sub-committees in order to operate in a more streamlined 

and flexible manner to undertake its statutory functions. 
 
b) Any sub-committees appointed by the JOSC will comprise at least four Elected 

Members, together with any co-opted members as agreed when establishing the 
sub-committee. 

 
c) A sub-committee is to comprise an equal number of Elected Members of each of the 

appointing authorities. 
 

d) Any report or recommendations made by a sub-committee of the JOSC is subject to 
approval by a resolution of the JOSC. 
 

Page 71



Firs
t D

raf
t

e) Any sub-committee can only exercise the functions conferred upon it by the JOSC.  
 

13. Political Balance  
 
a) Each appointing authority must ensure that, as far as practicable, the members of 

the JOSC reflect the balance of political groups for the time being prevailing among 
the members of the appointing authority. 
 

14. Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair 
 
a) A JOSC must appoint a chair of the committee from within its Elected Member 

membership.  
 

b) A JOSC may appoint a vice-chair and this must be from within its Elected Member 
membership.  
 

c) The Chair will be appointed from within its Elected Member membership on a 
rotational annual basis and the allocation of the vice-chair (if appointed) will be 
given to the member of the Authority which is next scheduled to hold the position of 
Chair. 
 

d) Any sub-committee must appoint a chair, and may appoint a vice chair, from 
amongst its Elected Member membership. 
 

15. Access to meetings and documentation etc.  
 
a) The JOSC, or a sub-committee, is to be treated as a committee or sub-committee of 

a principal council for the purposes of Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972(1) 
(access to meetings and documents of certain authorities, committees and sub-
committees). 

 
16. Resolving disagreements 

 
a) All members of the JOSC have a duty to act assertively and proactively to resolve 

disagreements.  
 
b) Initially, the JOSC will utilise a collaborative-style methodology to resolve any 

conflict(s) or disagreements. The collaboration style involves parties working 
together to resolve issues, with a ‘win-win’ attitude clearly focused on making a 
positive difference to the lives of people who live in the County Boroughs of Merthyr 
Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf. If necessary other ways of resolving disputes, such as 
mediation, will be used. Where mediation is used the parties must agree on the 
final, binding resolution. 

 
17. Meetings of the JOSC 

 
a) Meetings will initially be held on a quarterly basis with a schedule of meeting dates 

circulated and agreed at the start of each financial year. Extra meetings may be 
called where 50% of the Elected Members identify the need. 

 
18. Work programme (Forward Plan) 

 
a) The JOSC should formulate a forward plan to identify what issues the JOSC intends 

to focus upon during the course of the year. 

Page 72



Firs
t D

raf
t

 
b) The terms of reference of the JOSC are to be reviewed on an annual basis and to be 

incorporated into the Committee's Work Programme.   
 

c) The forward plan should provide a clear rationale as to the purpose of considering a 
particular topic, and to the methods by which it will be investigated. 
 

d) The JOSC must have regard to The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 and 
guidance, which places a requirement to engage with the public. 
 

e) The forward plan will be published on both Authorities’ websites to allow interested 
groups and individuals to provide comment and offer their views. 

 
19. Invitations to the Cwm Taf Public Service Board 

 
a) The JOSC shall review and scrutinise the performance of the PSB, and in exercising its 

powers, may require members of the PSB to attend a meeting of the JOSC. 
 

b) The JOSC shall review and scrutinise the performance of the PSB, and in exercising its 
powers, may invite Officers and Cabinet Members to attend its meetings when 
appropriate.  

 
c) The JOSC may request invitees to give account for their activities and their 

performance on matters within the JOSC’s remit, particularly relating to:-  
 
• Any particular decision  
• The performance of partners in delivering shared objectives  
 

d) When the JOSC wishes to invite members of the PSB, officers, Cabinet Members or 
another individual to a meeting, it will:- 
 
• Offer a minimum notice of 6 weeks’ notice; 
• Clearly outline the reason and the likely areas for questioning; 
• Identify whether any paperwork is to be produced. 
 

e) Where individuals attend before the JOSC, the Chair shall ensure that they are 
treated with courtesy and respect. Following the meeting, attendees will be 
provided with feedback and clarification as to whether further information is 
required as part of the Scrutiny process. 
 

20. Access to information rules 
 
a) Meetings of the JOSC will be subject to the same access to information rules as 

other public meetings of the councils. 
 

b) The Chair will adhere to the access to information rules of his/her respective 
Authority. 

 
21. Rules of Procedure 

 
a) Members of the JOSC and the public must have regard for the Chair who will have 

the authority to determine on any rules of procedure during meetings of the JOSC. 
 

b) The Chair will adhere to the rules of procedure of his/her respective Authority. 

Page 73



Firs
t D

raf
t

 
22. Declarations of Interest 

 
a) All Elected Members shall observe the Code of Conduct in force for their respective 

Authorities, whilst co-opted members shall observe the Code of Conduct of the 
Authority of the Chair of the JOSC at the time the co-opted member was appointed.  

 
23. Confidentiality of Information 

 
a) In accordance with Members’ respective Authority’s Code of Conduct, members 

(Elected Members and Co-opted Members) of the JOSC  must not disclose any 
information considered ’exempt’ in accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

24. Administrative arrangements 
 

a) The secretariat function will be provided by same Authority as the Chair for the 
period he/she is appointed for. The function includes:  
 
• Arranging regular meetings of the JOSC - meetings are held within appropriate 

timescales following meetings of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board. 
• Preparing agendas and commissioning papers for meetings - Agendas and 

commissioning papers are prepared and distributed in a timely manner. 
• Inviting participants 
• Managing attendance  
• Provision of meeting venues 
• Minute taking  
• Working on the Annual Report – the JOSC will be required to produce a progress 

report to each of the participating authorities designated Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees on an annual basis 

• Preparing evidence for Scrutiny 
• In alignment with the nominated Chair, the supporting Officer is from the same 

authority, which would allow for a shared resource approach 
 

b) The terms of reference of the JOSC are to be reviewed on an annual basis and to be 
incorporated into the Committee’s Work Programme.   

 
25. JOSC meeting procedures (including sub-committees) 

 
a) Main agenda items will be identified at the previous meeting in line with the agreed 

work programme. At this point potential witnesses and broad themes should be 
considered. 

 
b) Prior to the meeting all JOSC Members should be engaged in raising and discussing 

possible questions by email. The JOSC Chair will facilitate this process. 
 
c) A pre-meeting for all JOSC Members will be held for 30 minutes immediately before 

each JOSC meeting. The purpose is to ensure that members are fully prepared for 
the JOSC meeting and that the questioning strategy is clear. 

 
d) During the meeting, the JOSC Chair will be responsible for ensuring that questioning 

is effective and that the JOSC achieves its objective. 
 

Page 74



Firs
t D

raf
t

e) Those invited to attend for a particular agenda item shall not be expected to remain 
at the meeting. 

 
f) At the close of the meeting, witnesses will be asked to leave to enable JOSC 

Members to discuss their conclusions and any recommendations arising from the 
meeting. These conclusions and recommendations will be reported to the PSB and 
relevant Cabinet Member(s) in the form of a Chairs’ Letter. This part of the meeting 
should review the effectiveness of the meeting and identify ways that future 
meetings could be improved 

 
26. Responding to the JOSC recommendations 

 
a) The JOSC will agree outcomes of its meetings and detail the conclusions and any 

recommendations arising from a JOSC meeting.  
 

b) The JOSC may recommend amendments to a strategy or policy at their meeting 
which will be formally minuted. The Chair will formally make recommendations via a 
Chairs Letter to the PSB and relevant Cabinet Member(s) in person after the meeting 
has closed and will report these to the Future generations Commissioner following 
each meeting.  
 

c) Where recommendations have been made to the PSB and/or the Cabinet 
Member(s), a written response would be expected within one month, indicating 
whether the recommendation is to be accepted and what action (if any) will be 
taken in response. 
 

d) Where the JOSC makes a report or recommendations to any of the appointing 
authorities or their executives the JOSC:- 

 
• may publish the report or recommendations 
• may require the appointing authority or authorities, or the executive or 

executives—  
• to consider and respond to the report or recommendations 

indicating what (if any) steps it proposes, or they propose, to take; 
and  

• if the joint overview and scrutiny committee has published a report 
or recommendations, to publish the response. 

• Where the JOSC has provided a copy of the report or recommendations to a 
member of an appointing authority who has referred a matter to the JOSC or 
sub-committee, it must provide the member with a copy of the response. 

 
27. Reports of the JOSC 

 
a) When making reports or recommendations to the PSB with respect to the board’s 

functions or governance arrangements, the JOSC must send a copy of any report or 
recommendation to:- 
 
• the Welsh Ministers; 
• the Future Generations Commissioner; 
• the Auditor General for Wales. 
 

b) Any reports or recommendations will be made on behalf of the JOSC, not the local 
authorities, and therefore there is no requirement for an executive or full council of 
the two Authorities to endorse the report. 

Page 75



Firs
t D

raf
t

 
28. Evidence Gathering 

 
a) The JOSC is entitled to gather evidence in connection with any review or inquiry it 

undertakes as part of their agreed work plan.  
 

b) The JOSC shall adopt methods of gathering evidence to inform its deliberations. 
These include, but are not limited to, task and finish groups, holding enquiries, 
undertaking site visits, conducting public surveys, holding public meetings, 
commissioning research, hearing from witnesses and appointing advisors and 
assessors. The knowledge of councillors is also a valuable source of evidence and 
should be considered as part of each inquiry. 
 

29. Setting the agenda 
 
a) Individual agenda items, other than standing items, are to be determined in the first 

instance by the Work Programme which is to be established and agreed by the JOSC. 
The decision to consider additional items or defer planned items will be a matter for 
the discretion of the Chair. 
 

b) Any matter that is referred to the JOSC or a sub-committee by any member of the 
JOSC or a sub-committee will be included on the agenda for, and discussed at, a 
meeting of the JOSC or the relevant sub-committee. See “Reference of matters to 
joint overview and scrutiny committee, etc” below 

 
30. Reference of matters to joint overview and scrutiny committee, etc 

 
a) Any member of the JOSC can refer to the committee any matter which is relevant to 

its functions. 
 

b) Any member of a sub-committee of the JOSC can refer to the committee any matter 
which is relevant to its functions. 
 

c) Any member of any of the appointing authorities can refer to the JOSC of those 
authorities any local government matter which is relevant to the functions of the 
JSOC. 
 

d) Any referral as per a) to c) above will be included on the agenda for, and discussed 
at, a meeting of that committee or sub-committee. 
 

e) Where the JOSC makes a report or recommendations in relation to a matter referred 
to it by that member, it must provide the member with a copy of the report or 
recommendations. 
 

31. Public Engagement 
 

a) Meetings of the JOSC and sub-committees are open to the public and all reports are 
available to the public unless exempt or confidential, when the items would be 
considered in closed session 
 

b) The JOSC will seek to gather evidence from the public as an ongoing aspect of its 
work. 
 

Page 76



Firs
t D

raf
t

c) Meetings of the JOSC will be open to the public to observe and an item for public 
questions will be included on each agenda. 
 

d) Letters and agenda packs will be published via the two Authoritys’ agenda 
publications pages. 

 
32. Training and Development 

 
a) Training will be provided to members of the JOSC as and when required / 

appropriate. 
 

33. Expenses, Allowances and Salaries 
 
a) The JOSC will not be responsible for or pay any expenses or allowances. 
 
b) The remuneration of Chair of the JOSC (or a Sub-Committee of the JOSC) is 

prescribed by the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales and is a matter for 
the constituent Councils to decide whether such a post will be paid.  

 
c) All Elected Members and Co-opted Members will need to apply to their respective 

Authority or Organisation for any payment of expenses etc. 
 

34. Meeting Venue / time 
 
a) Unless otherwise agreed by the JOSC, the meeting venue will be at the Valleys 

Innovation Centre, Abercynon. 
 

b) Meeting times of the JOSC or any sub-committees will be agreed by the JOSC Elected 
Member membership. 
 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

COUNCIL TAX BASE FOR 2017/18

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council has to set the Council Tax base each year in accordance with the           
prescribed regulations, (see 3.1). This is the first stage in setting the Council Tax and

           also provides the precepting authorities with a key component to determine their           
financial requirements for the coming year.

1.2   The calculation is made with reference to the number of banded properties within            
the local authority area adjusted to take into account discounts and exemptions. The           
calculation also takes into account changes to the valuation list that appear likely to            
occur during 2017-18.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Taking into account the number of properties in each valuation band, discounts,            
reductions for disabilities and future likely changes in the valuation list, I would           
recommend that the Council passes the following resolution:

           That pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation 
           of Council Tax Base) and Council Tax (Prescribed class of Dwellings) (Wales)          

(Amendments) regulations 2004, the number calculated by the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council for 2017/18 shall be 18,069.24 (17,896.23 – 2016/17) and for the 
area covered by the Bedlinog Community Council for 2017/18 shall be 1,127.21 
(1,075.98 – 2016/17).

Date Written 07th November 2016
Report Author Mike Parry
Service Area Revenues
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1  It is a requirement of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 
1995 as amended by the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) and 
Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (Wales) (Amendments) Regulations 
2004, that a Council resolution is made each year confirming the Council Tax base 
for the Council area as a whole and for the area covered by the Bedlinog Community 
Council.

3.2 The latest Valuation list shows the following information:

Band Valuation Spread           No of Properties
2015/16    2016/17

%

A Less than £44,000                    14043 14100 52.0
B £44,001 - £65,000 6629 6633 24.5
C £65,001 - £91,000 2168 2168 8.0
D £91,001 - £123,000 2081 2114 7.8
E £123,001 - £162,000 1375 1422 5.2
F £162,001 – £223,000 546 554 2.0
G £223,001 – £324,000 142 142 
H £324,001 - £424,000 2 2 <1
I £424,001 and over 8 7 <1

26994 27142

3.3 Liable persons for each property are charged on the basis of the Band D charge 
declared by the Council as follows:

Band           Ratio to Band D
A                            6/9                           
B                            7/9
C                            8/9
D                            9/9
E                           11/9
F                           13/9
G                           15/9
H                           18/9
I                             21/9

3.4    The Council Tax Base must now be determined by Council for the County Borough           
area and the Bedlinog Community Council area. The declaration to be made refers 
to what is termed the ‘Band D’ equivalent of all properties. Referring to paragraph 
3.3, members will note that Band A properties pay 6/9 of the charge and count as 6/9 
of a property when compared to Band D. Similarly, Band B properties as 7/9 of a 
property and so on. 

Page 80



3.5    The estimated collection rate for 2017/18 has been set at 96%, the same estimated
          figure as 2016/17.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This report sets the Council Tax Base for 2017/18 from which the Council Tax will 
           be derived.

5.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY 

5.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been            
completed and there is no impact on the Corporate Plan or Single Integrated Plan            
arising from this report. Any consequential impact will be determined and reported            
on in the Council report that sets the Council Tax. (February/March 2017).

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CLLR PHIL WILLIAMS
GOVERNANCE & CORPORATE 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Valuation Office Agency 
number and band report

30th October 2016 Revenue Section 

Northgate Council Tax 
Base report

31st October 2016 Revenue Section

Welsh Government CT1 
Report

31st October 2016 Revenue Section

Single Integrated Plan 
and Sustainability 
Impact Assessment

09th November 2016 Electronic Library

Equality Impact 
Assessment Screening 
Document

09th November 2016 Electronic Library

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

CHANGES TO LOCAL AUTHORITY SEARCH FEES

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Local Authority Official search fees need to be amended to take into account 
additional enquiries on the search report.  Personal Search fees should be 
reintroduced in accordance with new European Union Directive.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Local Authority Official search fees be amended;

2.2 Personal search fees to be reintroduced.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 To protect the financial and legal interest of prospective purchasers of land and 
property, a search of all relevant local authority held (LA) information should be 
conducted to establish any factors that may affect a buyer’s decision.  A search can 
be carried out in one of two ways: an Official Local Authority Search; or a Personal 
Search.

Date Written 11/11/16
Report Author Bethan Weeks and Geraint 

Morgan 
Service Area Neighbourhood Services

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



3.2 Official LA Search

This is requested by a solicitor or conveyancer, electronically or by post, and 
consists of a CON29R form and an LLC1 form.  This type of search is conducted 
solely by the LA and is submitted to the Local Land Charges section within the 
Estates Dept.  The Local Land Charges Officer sends the CON29R questions to 
Highways, Rights of Way, Planning, Building Control and Environmental Health for 
each department to answer the relevant questions.  The Local Land Charges Officer 
will then collate all the information and compile it into one report along with an Official 
Search Certificate of the Local Land Charges Register, revealing any registered 
Local Land Charges as appropriate; and send the results back within three working 
days of receiving the request.  The current fee for this service is as follows:

Residential Land / Commercial

LLC1 £6 £6 (as set by Welsh Government)

CON29
Land Charges £18 £20
Env Health £8 £10
Building Control £18 £20
Highways £18 £20
Planning £18 £20

Total £80 £90

3.4 There is also a CON29O Optional Enquiries form which deals with additional 
questions, priced at £10 per question, and additional parcels of land at £10 each.

Personal Search

3.5 A Personal Search is carried out by a Personal Search Company (PSC) on behalf of 
a solicitor or conveyancer and requires an agent to personally inspect the relevant 
public registers and consult various LA departments as necessary in order to compile 
their own reports.  Prior to 2010, the PSCs were charged by LAs for gathering the 
information which meant LAs received an income from personals searches.  

3.6 However, in 2010, the UK Government concluded that charging a fee for a personal 
search was incompatible with the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR)  
and the underlying 2003 EU Directive that supports it.  All personal search fees were 
abolished from July 2010.

4.0 THE NEW CON29 FORM 

4.1 As of 4 July 2016, a new CON29 form was introduced by the Law Society which 
includes additional enquires required of each department (Appendix 1).  The most 
significant change is the introduction of the new rights of way enquiry at 2.2 of the 

Page 84



new form.  Rights of Way enquiries were previously part of the CON29 Optional 
Enquiries form, and it was at the discretion of the solicitor or conveyancer whether 
the enquiry was required.  This enquiry is now part of the standard CON29 and 
should be reflected in the new pricing structure.  

4.2 Each department involved in the compilation of a CON29 report have conducted an 
exercise to determine how long the new enquiries take to answer.  The following 
amounts have been calculated with the advice of the Accounts Department, based 
on the information provided from each department:

Residential Land / Commercial

Land Charges £12 £12
Building Control £10 £12
Env Health £17 £19
Highways £17 £19
Planning £17 £19
Rights of Way £17 £19

Total £90 £100

4.3 As a search provider, we must remain competitively priced if we are to increase our 
share of the search market. Local research has shown that £100 is the cut-off point 
upon which solicitors and conveyancers base their decision on where to purchase a 
search.  With the inclusion of the new Rights of Way enquiry, it is considered 
necessary to slightly lower the fees of some of the departments to remain 
competitively priced.  

4.4     It is recommended that Optional Enquires should remain £10 per question, with the 
exception of Enquiry no. 22 regarding Common Land.  Other LAs charge more (see 
below) for this enquiry due to its complexity:

Caerphilly £12
RCT £17
Swansea £22
Cardiff £14
Vale of Glam £14
Ceredigion £12
Torfaen £14
Powys £22
Merthyr £10

4.5      Optional Enquiry no 22 should be increased to £15 per search.

4.6      Additional parcels of land should remain at £10 per parcel up to a maximum of five 
parcels per search.

4.7 The target turnaround time for CON29 searches shall remain three days.

Page 85



5.0 CHARGING PERSONAL SEARCH COMPANIES

5.1 A new EU Directive has been issued (Appendix 2) to clarify what types of 
environmental information can be charged for.  

5.2 The Directive states that public organisations can now reintroduce fees for providing 
information to search companies providing that a) the fees are published; and b) the 
fees do not include charges for maintaining databases of any kind.  

5.3 Each relevant department has conducted an exercise to determine how the fees 
should be set. The following amounts have been calculated with the advice of the 
Accounts Department, based on the information provided from each department:

 
Building Control £10
Planning £12
Rights of Way £14
Env Health £17
Highways £17

5.4 If the above fees are accepted, they should be introduced with immediate effect.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 The new CON29 form requires additional time to complete and so should be 
reflected in the total price of the search.  Should the proposed figures be accepted, 
this will generate an extra £10 per search.  A total of 225 CON29 searches were 
processed in 2015/16 so there is a potential increase of £2250 in the future.

6.2 A total of 56 CON29 Optional Enquiry no 22s were received in 2015/16. Should the 
proposed amount of £15 be accepted, this could potentially generate an additional 
£280 per annum.    

6.3 The largest increase in income will derive from the reintroduction of personal search 
fees.  During the last 12 months, the following amount of searches were received by 
each department:

Building Control 820
Planning 791
Rights of Way 320
Environmental Health 617
Highways 770

Had the fees been in place, this could potentially have generated £45,751.

6.4 Reintroducing personal search fees cannot guarantee the above said figure, 
however.  Companies will still have the option to conduct searches ‘personally’ by 
visiting departments and gathering and interpreting information themselves for free.  
This is time consuming and costly in terms of agent fees so some companies may 

Page 86



continue to request each department conduct the searches for them; this will 
generate income.

6.5 The reintroduction of personal search fees will encourage solicitors and 
conveyancers to shop around for the best deal, as search companies increase their 
own fees to compensate.  This will provide a more level playing field within the 
search service, and will hopefully see the increase of CON29 requests.

7.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

7.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed 
and no positive or negative impacts have been identified.
 

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

CHERYLLEE EVANS
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION, PLANNING AND 
COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL REPORT

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

BIFFA PROFIT SHARING SCHEME

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To seek Council’s instructions on the allocation of funds from the Dowlais Electoral 
Division.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 A Councillor for the Electoral Division has declared an interest and under the 
Council’s constitution where such an occurrence happens then it is necessary for the 
whole Council to confirm or otherwise the allocation of these funds.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 I am in receipt of a request from the Councillors of the Dowlais Electoral Division to 
allocate their Biffa Monies as follows:

Dowlais Electoral Division                                             £

Pantyscallog Primary School                 850.00

Date Written 11th November 2016
Report Author Suzanne Lewis-Abbott
Service Area Community Regeneration
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 30 November 2016

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



3.2 A Councillor for the Electoral Division has declared an interest in the above 
organisation.

3.3 Under the Council’s constitution where such an occurrence happens then it is 
necessary for the whole Council to confirm or otherwise the allocation of these funds.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Authority from this report.

5.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

5.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed 
and the proposals positively impact on a number of aspects of the Corporate Plan 
and Single Integrated Plan, including people enjoying a vibrant, attractive, safe and 
sustainable place in which to live, work, play and visit.  No negative impacts have 
been identified.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Biffa Profit Share

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

FULL COUNCIL  -  INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

FFOS-Y-FRAN INTERMEDIATE GRANT SCHEME

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To update Council on the allocation of the Ffos-y-Fran Intermediate Grant Scheme 
funds following the Grants Panel.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 In April 2012 Council approved the proposal that an Intermediate Fund be created. 
An annual sum of £50,000 is allocated to the fund with decisions on the allocation 
delegated to the Leader of the Council, the Leader of the Opposition and the Chief 
Finance Officer.

2.2 The Ffos y Fran Panel agreed that a 6 monthly report be provided to Miller Argent 
Limited to advise on the spend outlining all of the organisations supported during the 
period and Miller Argent Limited, if considered appropriate, can recommend to the 
Ffos y Fran Panel the discontinuation of future support to certain organisations.

3.0 EVALUATION OF APPLICATIONS

3.1 Thirteen applications received were considered by the Panel in April and August 
2016 with the following 4 recommended for support as satisfying all the evaluation 
criteria:-

Date Written 06/10/2016
Report Author Alyn Owen
Service Area Community Regeneration
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 30th November 2016

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



3.1.1 415 SQN (Merthyr Tydfil) Air Cadets

Project – 415 SQN (Merthyr Tydfil) Air Cadets
Description – To purchase a mini bus which would be used for charity fund 
raising events, trips for elderly veterans and youngsters and local groups.
Project cost - £5,600
Required from Ffos y Fran - £4,300

3.1.2 Forever Young

Project – Forever Young Revitalising Breaks
Description – To provide support for Forever Young to provide breaks for 
members
Project cost - £1,095
Required from Ffos y Fran - £1,095

3.1.3 Macmillan Merthyr Tydfil

Project – Macmillan Fashion Show
Description – Macmillan Fashion Show 2016 – hire of hall, marketing and 
professional models and choreographer
Project cost - £4,971.10
Required from Ffos y Fran - £4,971.10

3.1.4 Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust

Project – Aberfan Memorial Exhibition
Description – A digital memorial exhibition to be held through September and 
October at the Redhouse Merthyr Tydfil featuring photographs from I.C. 
Rapaport.
Project cost - £2032
Required from Ffos y Fran - £2032

3.2    The applications not recommended for support are as follows:

Hwyl Hub £5000 Hwyl Hub Start Up Support
Barnardo’s £5000 Merthyr Young Tenants Needs Assessment
Cardiff City FC Foundation £3,334.50 Sport Leaders: Dowlais
Merthyr Rising CIC £5000 Merthyr Rising Festival 2016 – Stage Hire for Penderyn Square

Treharris Athletic Western 
Football Club

£4650.25 Kit, footballs, tractor, electric bill, training, volunteer expenses/In-
kind contributions

The Big Heart of Merthyr 
Tydfil

£5000 Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre Mobile Phone Application

Karate Union of Great 
Britain Wales

£2400 European Karate Championships Athens 2016 – Flights and 
Accommodation

Royal Crescent Allotments £1208.96 Booklet publication: Our allotment in Merthyr Tydfil, 1917 – 2016
Gurnos Football Club £5000 Crowd Barriers and Shelters

Page 98



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications for the Authority with these schemes.

5.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

5.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the proposals positively impact on the Corporate Plan and Single 
Integrated Plan, including people, who live in Merthyr Tydfil are supported to enjoy a 
healthier and better quality of life and also people enjoy a vibrant, attractive, safe and 
sustainable place in which to live, work, play and visit. No negative impacts have 
been identified.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Scrutiny : Learning and LAESCYP : 31/10/2016
	3b Scrutiny : Social Services : 1/11/2016
	3c Cabinet : 2/11/2016
	3d Full Council : 2/11/2016
	3e Scrutiny : Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection : 7/11/2016
	3f Scrutiny : Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services : 8/11/2016
	3g Licensing : 9/11/2016
	3h Planning , Regulatory and Licensing : 9/11/2016
	3i Scrutiny : Regeneration, Planning and Countryside : 15/11/2016
	3j Cabinet : 16/11/2016
	4 Cabinet Appointment
	5 Revised Medium Term Financial Plan 2017/18 – 2020/21 – Progress Update
	6 Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) Co-opted Membership On The Authority's Scrutiny Committees
	7 MTCBC Membership Of The Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview And Scrutiny Committee
	Appendix 1

	8 Council Tax Base for 2017/18
	9 Changes to Local Authority Search Fees
	Appendix 1

	10 Biffa Profit Sharing Scheme
	Appendix 1

	11 Ffos Y Fran Intermediate Grant Scheme



